# How interest rates impact the allocation of alternative investments

Results from the world's best pension systems

Master Thesis

MSc in Advanced Economics and Finance (cand.oecon)



Authors:

Elmar Björnsson: 141171

Ragnar Már Hannesson: 403865

Supervisor:

Svend Erik Hougaard Jensen

Co-supervisor:

Oguzhan Cepni

Number of characters: 165.195

Number of pages: 83

16 May 2022



# Abstract

This thesis examines the relationship between changes in interest rates and the allocation of pension funds to alternative assets through empirical research. Data for this study was obtained from the annual reports of 50 pension funds between 2010 and 2020. The countries included in this research are Australia, Denmark, Iceland, and the Netherlands which received the best overall score according to the Melbourne Mercer Global Pension Index in 2021. Using fixed effect estimation, we found that pension funds allocated a greater proportion of their assets under management to alternative assets with lower interest rates. Accordingly, this relationship is influenced by past interest rates and not current ones, indicating that alternative investments are handled as passive investment strategies with low trading frequency and long-term investment horizons. Moreover, we found that funds with a high percentage of active members and those willing to diversify their assets, invest more in alternatives. Finally, we demonstrate that defined benefit funds allocate less to alternatives on average than defined contribution funds, indicating that changes in interest rates affect the two schemes differently.

# **Table of contents**

1. Introduction	7
2. From then till now	9
2.1 Aggregate asset allocation in the top tier systems	
2.1.1 Australia	11
2.1.2 Denmark	
2.1.3 The Netherlands	
2.1.4 Iceland	16
2.2 Comparison	
3. Alternative assets	
3.1 Characteristics	
3.1.1 Private equity	
3.1.2 Infrastructure	
3.1.3 Real estate	
3.1.4 Commodities	
3.1.5 Hedge funds	
3.1.6 Private debt	
3.2 Valuation	
3.2.1 Valuation in practice	
3.3 Investment cycle of alternatives and secondary funds	
3.3 Legislation	31
3.3.1 Solvency and liquidity	
3.3.2 Asset allocation	
4. Theory of pension investing	
4.1 Modern Portfolio Theory	
4.2 Capital asset pricing model – CAPM	
4.3 Defined Benefit vs Defined Contribution	30
4.5 Defined Defined Contribution	
5 Literature review	43
6. Empirical framework	
6.1 Data	
6.1.1 Interest rates	
6.1.2 Pension fund size	
6.1.3 Diversification	
6.1.4 Defined benefit funds	
0.1.3 Fund member s age and maturity	
6.2 Econometric methodology	

6.2.1	Fixed effects estimation
6.2.2	Random effects and the Hausmann test
6.2.3	Fixed Effects vs First difference
6.3 S	ummary statistics
7. Do lov	wer interest rates increase investments in Alternatives?
7.1 D	Descriptive statistics
7.2 R	egressions
7.2.1	Baseline model: Alternatives in %
7.2.2	Model with last year's interest rate
7.2.3	Do Dutch funds affect the results?
7.2.4	Some insight on the policy allocation
7.3 R	20bustness checks
7.3.1	Possible endogeneity70
7.3.2	Sample size robustness74
7.4 S	ummary and overview of results76
8. Discus	ssion77
8.1 T	imes are changing
8.1.1	From Russia with love
8.2 R	esults compared to prior research and limits
9. Concl	usion

# List of figures

Figure 1: Development of long-term interest rates for several countries from 1995-2020
Figure 2: Asset allocation and risk needed to obtain the same return for 1991, 2006 and 202110
Figure 3: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Australian pension funds 2010-2021 12
Figure 4: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Danish pension funds 2010-202013
Figure 5: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Dutch pension funds 2010-202015
Figure 6: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Icelandic pension funds 2010-202016
Figure 7: J-curve illustrating how the return of private equity develops over time
Figure 8: Closed fund investment cycle for private equity
Figure 9: Market volume for secondary transactions 2002-2021
Figure 10: Policy funding ratio of selected Dutch pension funds 2015-2020
Figure 11: Percentage of bonds in Europe held by DB and DC schemes respectively in 202041
Figure 12: Percentage of pension funds that diversify by investing less than 60% in one asset class50
Figure 13: Alternative assets as a fraction of total assets across funds
Figure 14: Alternative assets as a fraction of total assets over time
Figure 15 Sample size robustness check74

# List of tables

Table 1: Change in asset allocation from 2010-2020	17
Table 2: Valuations Methods used for alternative assets for selected pension funds	
Table 3: Regulation for investment allocations	35
Table 4: The average size of pension funds for each country	49
Table 5: Summary statistics	56
Table 6: Descriptive statistics	58
Table 7: Descriptive statistics for each country	59
Table 8: Baseline model using percentage of alternatives as a dependent variable	63
Table 9: Baseline model 2 using log size of alternatives as a dependent variable	64
Table 10: Alternative model using alternative assets as percentage a dependent variable	66
Table 11: Alternative model using log size of alternatives as a dependent variable	67
Table 12: Baseline model regression excluding the Netherlands	68
Table 13 Robustness check for current yield	72
Table 14 Robustness check for lagged yield	73
Table 15 Sample size robustness check	75

## 1. Introduction

Most people are familiar with the phrase about the eggs and basket, a saying that is often used when talking about risk diversification in portfolios. In essence, the phrase reminds us that it is important to distribute our eggs in many baskets rather than one, as it increases the likelihood of bringing them unharmed to their destination. This is particularly relevant for occupational pension schemes since the number, and size of eggs(assets) they handle are large. Breaking a pension egg can, in many cases, be harmful to an individual's lifetime wealth as most people are without income at retirement or have limited access to public pensions and therefore rely to a large extent on these pension payments.

When saving for retirement, several different methods can be applied, with occupational pension schemes being one of them. The idea behind occupational schemes is, at its core very simple. Institutions, other than the government, receive contributions from employees, either by a fraction of an individual's salary or a fixed payment. The institution, that is the pension fund then invests this contribution in the capital market where it grows over time. At retirement, the pensioner receives benefits, where the amount depends on which type of occupational scheme the individual is a member of. Thus, pension funds play an important role in countries with such systems.

Since the 90s, interest rates in the western world have been decreasing, reaching historically low levels in 2020. This low-interest rate environment, alongside demographic changes, can have implications on pension schemes. When people live longer, the period in which they receive pension increases, given that the retirement age and the return on assets stay the same. This can impact factors like pension funds' solvency, where liquidity issues might occur if the funds do not dynamically adjust their paid-out benefits accordingly.

The lower interest rate environment has also impacted the asset allocation of pension funds and how they obtain returns. Historically, asset returns were obtained by investing in assets believed to be relatively safe such as government bonds. With a declining trend in interest rates over the years, the possession of such safe assets has become less desirable due to their lower returns. This means that occupational schemes have seen some change in asset allocation over the years, with a shift from assets considered safe to supposedly riskier investments. In other words, more risk is needed to obtain the same return as before. This changed environment has directed pension funds to assets that are not in the traditional investment category, namely alternative investments. Alternatives include non-listed financial instruments, which are illiquid and less regulated than conventional asset classes such as bonds or listed equity securities. As these investments lack an active market price, since they cannot be directly observed in the market, making the valuation of such assets often complex. Furthermore, investors must continuously assess the value of their alternative investments based on external and internal factors that may affect the investment throughout their lifetime.

Growing popularity of alternative investments among pension funds has led to speculations and theories regarding the causes, often attributed to the decline in interest rates. However, the research on these theories and claims has been very limited, with sometimes contradictory results. Therefore, this thesis examines how alternative investments have evolved and empirically tests factors that may influence pension fund investments in alternatives. The research will be based on the period 2010 to 2020 in countries that have established large occupational schemes relative to GDP. These countries are Australia, Denmark, Iceland, and the Netherlands.

#### 2. From then till now

The world is a large and diverse place, with various pension systems in many countries. How these systems differ in quality and setup is something that the Mercer global pension index tries to answer. By ranking pension systems worldwide according to their sustainability, adequacy, and integrity. In 2021, the three countries with the highest possible ratings were Iceland, Denmark, and The Netherlands. Each of them achieved the title of "first-class" which corresponds to having a robust retirement income system with good benefits and a high level of integrity. As of 2020, all three European countries had retirement assets exceeding 200% of GDP. Next in line is Australia, with a b+ rating and pension assets relative to GDP of 131% (OECD, 2021a).

Depending on whether the occupational scheme is a defined benefit (DB) or defined contribution (DC), the investment policy of the individual fund may differ. Consequently, this impacts asset allocation since it is a direct consequence of the investment policy. The difference is due to the definition of who carries the investment risk. In Defined benefit schemes, DB, almost all the risk is borne by the sponsor. Conversely, in defined contribution plans, DC, the sponsor is not subject to any risks such as investment, inflation, interest rate, or longevity risk. Instead, the scheme members share the risk (Sutcliffe, 2016).

Long-term nominal interest rates have decreased substantially over the past two decades in developed markets. This development is illustrated in figure 1.



Figure 1: Development of long-term interest rates for several countries from 1995-2020. Source: OECD Data

A closer look at figure 1 shows that the long-term interest rates varied from around 6,6% (USA) to 9,2% (Iceland) in 1995. In comparison to 2020, interest rates ranged from -0,4% (The Netherlands) to 2,5% (Iceland). Over the whole period, nominal long term interest rates were always higher in Iceland compared to other countries. This is very likely due to Iceland's small open economy with its own currency. One may ask how the lower interest rate affect pension funds investment and asset allocations; at first thought, they probably must look to something else than government bonds to obtain a reasonable return.

This changed environment that pension funds face with regards to asset allocation was researched by Callan Associates, a firm that advises large investor. They concluded that in 1991 in the US, a portfolio that was made up of 98% of cash and 2% of bonds would make a nominal return of 7% a year and a standard deviation of 1,1% as seen in figure 2. To obtain the same return in 2021, an investor needed to spread capital across different risky assets, with bonds only covering 3% of the total portfolio. The same 7% nominal return in 2021 would give a standard deviation of 17,3%, meaning that investors face sixteen times more risk compared to 30 years ago. They also note that inflation in the ninety's was higher, making the comparison of real returns different. The complexity level of the investment portfolio increased over time like in the nominal return case, but the additional risk was lower. To obtain a 5% real return, compared to 30 years ago, the results were less drastic, where volatility or risk was about 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> times higher (Callan, 2021).



*Figure 2: Asset allocation and risk needed to obtain the same return for1991, 2006 and 2021. Source Callan Associates* 

#### **2.1** Aggregate asset allocation in the top tier systems

When comparing how the actual asset allocation of pension funds is in each of the four countries, a somewhat different picture than the one pointed out in Callan emerges. It must be noted that in Callan, a 7% nominal or a 5% real return was assumed and that asset allocation and the return of the portfolio go hand in hand. Higher allocation to assets that are considered risky should involve higher expected returns, but also higher volatility in the return.

OECD publishes a report each year, Pension markets in focus, which among other things contains data regarding total asset allocation of pension systems in percentages. In the most recent report OECD (2021b) it is illustrated that looking at the average asset allocation of 53 OECD countries in the long-term, generally, a shift away from bills and bonds towards equities was observed. The report contains available data on asset allocations, which are collected from national pension authorities and show direct investments in equities, bills and bonds, cash and deposits. Additionally, it shows indirect investments through collective investment schemes, CIS. That is, when the transparency of such investments is not available. The last category is labeled as other assets which are mostly, but not entirely made up of unallocated insurance contracts, derivatives, loans (private debt), and alternative investments.

#### 2.1.1 Australia

Pension funds or superannuation funds as they are sometimes referred to in Australia, may be operated by employers, financial services companies, individuals, or industry associations. With a contribution rate of 9,5% in 2021, and a 0,5% annual increase planned thereafter, until reaching 12%. Withdrawing benefits from superannuation is possible from the age of 57-65, but for those born in 1962, the minimum age is 58, 59 for those born in 1963 and 60 for individuals born after 1964. With a possibility to delay benefits after the age of 65 (OECD, 2019a).

Australia's occupational scheme is a nearly fully funded DC, where 95,3% of all members accounts are DC and 3,7% are DB (APRA, 2022). Contributions to superannuation funds were made compulsory in 1992 to ensure that every Australian would save enough for retirement and reduce costs on the public pension system. The state pension, labelled age pension, is means tested, meaning payments increase or decrease in relation to other income, which for example can be pension benefits (NationwideSuper, n.d).



*Figure 3: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Australian pension funds 2010-2020. Source: OECD Pension funds in figure 2021* 

Figure 3 shows the change in asset allocation from 2010-2020. From a first look the changes over time do not seem drastic, with bills and bonds changing from 11% in 2010 to 14,7% in 2020, or a 3,7% increase. Equities cover the largest share of the allocation over the whole period where it drops from 46,5% in 2010 to 41,8% in 2020.

Cash and deposits, cover a surprisingly high share of the portfolio. The data does not disclose which of the two is larger. Cash investments are quite common in Australia super funds, which are mostly made up of money market securities such as bank bills and short-term bonds (AustralianSuper, n.d). One could argue that such investments belong in the bills and bonds category, which could explain the low level of bills and bonds.

Returns were positive for all years, excluding 2020, giving a 11-year average of 5,64%. Total assets at the end of 2020 were 1.794.300 million USD, giving a growth of 76,4% from 2010 (OECD, 2021a).

#### 2.1.2 Denmark

From 2010 until 2020, Denmark has seen a significant increase in pension contributions to DC schemes. The Danish financial supervision authority investigated the allocation of contributions to DC or DB pension plans in fourteen pension funds. They found that from 2003-2020 the fraction of contributions to DC schemes increased from around 8% to about 68% (Finanstilsynet, 2020).

In Denmark, about 85 percent of employed workers are covered by occupational pension plans in 2020, which are fully funded DC plans agreed through collective agreements. Under the collective agreement, contributions rates are set for all workers and are of similar size, with a range from 12% to 18%. In addition to the occupational scheme, there exists a public pension scheme, Folkepension, which is means-tested like in Australia. Lastly a fully funded, statutory DC scheme exists, operated by the Danish Labour Market Supplementary Pension, known as ATP. Which covers almost all wage earners, excluding those self-employed and almost all beneficiaries of social security benefits (OECD, 2019b).



Figure 4: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Danish pension funds 2010-2020. Source OECD Pension funds in figure 2021

Over the last decade a clear trend in the asset allocation can be observed in figure 4. With Danish pension funds moving away from bills and bonds towards equities, and other assets. Since available information on collective investment schemes lacks, an own category is needed. However, as the years went on, information on such schemes got better, making the allocation in the correct categories possible, making the overall level of CIS drop. At the start of the decade bills and bonds covered almost half of the total assets but went down to 28,6% at the end of it. The biggest shift was towards other assets, which includes alternatives, from 18,4% in 2010 to a sizeable 42,5% in 2020. This totals a 24,1% increase over 11 years or 2,19% annually. Listed equities covered 23,6% of total assets in 2010, which decreased to 21,9% in 2016 but then saw an upward trend until ending at 25,4% in 2020.

The overall real return was positive for almost all years, excluding 2018, resulting in a 11-year average of 5,49%. Total assets at the end of 2020 were 882.109 million USD, accumulating a growth of 59,5% from 2010. Of the 882.109 million USD 34,86% was invested abroad and 65,14% domestically in 2020 (OECD, 2021a).

#### 2.1.3 The Netherlands

Approximately 94% of Dutch employees in 2021 were covered by a DB scheme with the remaining covered by a DC scheme. Almost all DB plans use lifetime average earnings for benefit calculation purposes, whereas less than 1% use the final salary, or a combination of both. Final salary schemes carry a maximum accrual rate of 1,657% of wages for each year of service, which equates to around 70 percent after 42 years. For average earnings schemes, 1,875% per year is the highest accrual rate. In addition to the funded occupation schemes, a flat rate state pension exits, AOW, which is related to minimum wages and is not means-tested. Total assets at the end of 2020 were 2.088.702 million USD, accumulating a growth of 105,6% from 2010. Of the 2088 billion USD, 90,76% was invested abroad and 9,24% domestically. A total of 51,74% of the 90,76% foreign investments occurred in non-Euros, meaning that they were invested either outside the Euro area or in Euro countries with national currencies, such as Denmark and Sweden (OECD, 2019d).



Figure 5: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Dutch pension funds 2010-2020. Source: OECD Pension funds in figure 2021

The largest asset class for the whole period is bills and bonds, covering 42,1% of total assets at the beginning and almost half of all assets at the end of it. In the period of 2010-2015, bills and bonds increased by 3,9%, but only by 1,5% in the subsequent five years. Listed equities, the second largest asset class for the whole period showed an increase from the start with 35,6% to 37,4% in 2015 and dropped to 30.8% in 2020. Other assets, which include alternatives, saw a decrease of 5.3% from 2010-2015 but then an increase again by 4,5% until 2020, making the overall change over the whole period of 0,8%. As seen from the numbers, Dutch pension funds shifted away from other assets and towards stocks and bonds in the period 2010-2015, but after that the shift was back the other way with a decrease in listed stocks and a slight increase in bonds. Over the 11-year period, the real return was positive in each of the years except for 2018, which resulted in an average 11-year return of 6,29%.

#### 2.1.4 Iceland

Like Denmark, Iceland has seen a shift toward defined contribution plans in occupational schemes, where DC plans made up 60,9% of total assets in 2010 and 77,7% in 2020. In addition to that, DB plans covered 23,8% in 2010 and 6,6% in 2020. Personal pension plans covered the remainder. At the end of 2020, total Icelandic pension fund assets amounted to 47.842 million USD, representing an increase of 162,9% from 2010. Among the 47 billion USD, 34,86% were invested overseas and 65,14 % domestically (OECD, 2021a).

In Iceland, it is mandatory for all workers to be members of an occupational pension fund and to contribute a certain percentage of their salary to the fund. At least 12% of a worker's earnings must be contributed to occupational pension schemes, with 4% being paid by the employer and 8% by the employee. The employer's contribution may be higher, as in the public sector, but it depends on the collective bargaining agreement. Icelandic law requires pension schemes to aim for a replacement rate of 56% after 40 years of contributions. This results in an accrual rate of 1.4% for each year of service. Generally, pension benefits commence at the age of 67, with the possibility of being brought forward to 65 or delayed until 70. In Iceland, the state pension, ellilífeyrir, is means-tested, as it is in Denmark and Australia (OECD, 2019c).



Figure 6: Development of asset allocation and portfolio return for Icelandic pension funds 2010-2020. Source: Pension funds in figure <u>2021</u>

In figure 6 it is shown that the largest asset class in 2010 was bills and bonds, covering around 53% of total assets, but in 2020 listed equity had grown to be the largest investment type with a fraction of 38,8%. From 2010-2015 bills and bonds lowered by 6,9%, and other assets went down by 6.3%. The largest increase was in listed equities or by a hefty 16.1%. Over the 11-year period listed equities increased by 20.7% in total, bonds decreased by 15,2% with other assets remaining almost stable with a 0,6% decrease. Implying that most of the reduction in bonds was replaced in listed equities. The overall real return was positive for all years, excluding 2016, resulting in a 10-year average of 5,21%.

#### 2.2 Comparison

In the grand scheme of things, 11 years does not seem like a long time. However, looking at the asset allocation of pension funds among the different countries, it shows that things can change quite drastically in such a period. The historical development is summarized in table 1.

Asset Class	Australia	Denmark	The Netherlands	Iceland
Equity	-4,75%	1,75%	-4,80%	20,76%
Bills and Bonds	3,64%	-18,19%	5,53%	-15,14%
Cash and deposits	0,24%	0,06%	0,26%	-4,99%
Other	0,84%	24,10%	-0,80%	-0,63%
CIS	0,00%	-7,72%	0,00%	0,00%
11-year real return	5,64%	5,49%	6,29%	5,21%

Table 1: Change in asset allocation from 2010-2020

The table shows that in Australia, the changes were smallest, bills and bonds increased, mostly at the expense of equities which declined by 4,75%. Other assets, which mostly include private debt, real estate, unallocated insurance contracts, private investment funds and other alternatives remained stable and increased by 0.84%.

In Denmark, there was a large shift away from bonds, mostly towards other assets, and a small increase in equities of 1,75%. The Netherlands, like Australia increased its allocation in bills and bonds, reduced its equity positions by 4,8% and other by 0,8%. Iceland had the largest change in one asset class overall, a 20,76% increase in equities with the rest of the categories seeing reductions. Bills and bonds went down by 15,14% and other assets went down by 0,63%.

The 11-year real return of the systems were all above 5%, with The Netherlands coming highest at 6,29%, which is surprising, given the relationship between risk and return. With a higher allocation in bills and bonds, the expected return should be lower, but in turn, lower risk follows. Australia and Denmark followed with returns of 5,64% and 5,49%, respectively. The Icelandic pension funds came in last with an average return of 5,21%.

The asset allocation snapshots from 2010-2020 only present the results, but not how they happened. In addition, due to the construction of the data, it is difficult to derive conclusions about alternatives specifically. This is because the other category also contains other assets, such as unallocated insurance contracts and derivatives.

## 3. Alternative assets

Pension funds are institutions that manage the retirement savings of individuals and invest them to provide retirement benefits in the future. Because their liabilities are long-term by nature, they must also consider their investments in the same manner. As noted in chapter 2, interest rates have declined over the last two decades, changing the investment environment for funds. In general, lower interest rates mean that, to obtain the same return as before, investors must choose assets that are riskier. Additionally, people are living longer, meaning that they receive their pensions for an increased period. To counter both issues, one type of investment has been mentioned, and that is investments in alternatives. With the objective of increasing diversification to their portfolio, lowering volatility, and serving as a long-term investment strategy. As the name suggests, it does not refer to traditional investments such as bonds, equity, and cash, but rather assets that do not fall into the conventional asset classes. Alternative assets cover a wide range of investment opportunities and can include hedge funds, private equity, venture capital, infrastructure, and real estate, as well as unusual assets such as rare vintage wines, fine art, and antiques.

#### **3.1 Characteristics**

As there is no clear definition of alternative assets, they are often classified based on what they are not. This is due to their complexity and varying characteristics which differ among the individual assets. These assets, however, typically have some characteristics that distinguish them from traditional investment categories. Firstly, they are not publicly traded and are often illiquid. Secondly, they require a high threshold with regards to minimum investment and often a longterm investment horizon. Since alternatives are designed for institutional investors and wealthy individuals, they are less heavily regulated than more traditional investment options. In addition, since alternatives are privately held, publishing financial information is not as strict and can be difficult to locate in some cases. These characteristics may prove useful for pension funds as they are institutional investors with constant capital inflows. By investing in alternative asset classes, they are meeting their need for long-term investment. It also enables them to obtain the illiquidity premium, that is the premium investors demand in exchange for sacrificing investments in more liquid assets, while still obtaining better portfolio diversification. The diversification argument is based on the fact that alternative investments tend to have low correlations with traditional market assets. This is because traditional market assets are usually procyclical and move in line with economic trends. To sum things up, when alternative assets are added to the pension fund's

portfolio, they can generate higher returns while at the same time reducing overall portfolio risk (Preqin, n.d.).

The investment of alternative assets can therefore be advantageous, but pension funds must address and consider the risk factors associated with them when deciding whether to undertake such investments. Since alternatives are often illiquid and lack transparency, it is essential to conduct a robust risk management approach that considers the particular risk associated with that asset type. One approach is to use traditional asset measurements or historical results. However, the danger is that the specific characteristics of an asset might be overlooked, resulting in inadequate outcomes, for instance due to lack of transparency and difficulties obtaining information which are needed to make a well-informed investment decision.

To address this problem the international organizations of pension supervisors, IOPS issued a paper where they present guidelines to good practices in terms of risk management of alternative investments. There it is stated that the local supervisory authority where the fund operates in, should act to ensure that if the pension fund decides to invest in private assets, independent risks and the characteristics of the return must be analyzed by performing due diligence. That means pension funds should have a clear understanding of the underlying asset and not invest in the asset unless, fully understanding the associated risks (IOPS, 2010).

#### 3.1.1 Private equity

One type of investment which investors have shown a great interest in when considering nonlisted products is private equity. In short, private equity can be described as when institutional and other large investors buy a share in private companies, usually through funds with limited partnerships, with the hope of improving the operation and therefore its value. The goal is to sell it in the future at a higher price and gain the profit. Many institutions do this in practice with the intention of going public. That is investors expose themselves to private companies and exit these positions later when the firm is listed on an organized market or merged with another firm. This industry has attracted billions of dollars worldwide over the years as it offers diversification possibilities and many (but not nearly all) investors have enjoyed abundant return. The illiquidity premium is very relative when it comes to private equity. In most cases, investors are tying up their capital for a long time, which sometimes also requires additional capital since the investment can return a negative cash flow for the first years.



Figure 7: J-curve illustrating how the return of private equity develops over time. Source: CAIA Association 2018

In fact, the rate of return for private equity is often portraited by the so-called J-curve. As seen in figure 7, investors can expect a negative internal rate of return (IRR) for the first few years due to institutional and management fees. It can also originate from write-offs of investments that have not lived up to standards, declined in value, or gone out of business. But over time, some of the underlying companies that are included in the private equity fund collection begin to grow in value and the gain is realized through an IPO or a merger. The inability to enter and exit the investment at a predetermined market price, at a time the investor likes can be a severe risk where situations can arise where liquidation of their investment is needed. Moreover, as the underlying asset does not have an observable market price, the cost of obtaining financial information, buying the asset, and monitoring performance involves higher costs compared to market assets. Due to this illiquidity premium, investors expect returns to be higher in private equity compared to listed assets. Historically, private equity investments have generated investment returns that exceed the returns on traditional assets by almost 3% (Chambers et al., 2018).

#### 3.1.2 Infrastructure

For societies to function, infrastructure is essential. Thus, it is among the asset classes pension funds are becoming increasingly interested in. According to Alonso, Arellano, and Tuesta (2016) investing in infrastructure offers a long-term investment horizon, potential growth, and a convenient method to generate long run capital activities while at the same time providing vital service to citizens. Infrastructure can be a variety of projects related to economic structure such as transportation and renewable energy to social infrastructure like schools and hospitals. In many cases, infrastructures operate in monopolistic markets. For example, Iceland only has one international airport, which consequently has no direct competition.

Based on a report published by the CFA Institute's research foundation CFA (2019), infrastructures tend to operate in highly regulated environments that have entry barriers and high fixed costs. These assets typically require maintenance over a long period of time and can generate a stable cash flow for decades, being relatively insensitive to the return of other asset classes. The reason is that regardless of where the economy is heading, commutes or energy distribution is still likely to play an important role for households. The report points out that historically, unlisted infrastructures have performed close to traditional equities while the volatility is only half of equities, with almost no correlation between the two.

#### 3.1.3 Real estate

In the world of real estate, there are several types of properties, such as apartment buildings, hotels, retail stores, and other types of commercial real estate. These properties tend to provide a stream of cash flow to its owners through rents. Furthermore, this asset class usually grows in value over time so there is also a potential capital gain when the properties are sold (Marston, 2011).

Investing in real estate can have many appealing features which relates to pension funds as it allows them to diversify their portfolio. This is due to real estate's low correlation with other asset classes, while at the same time offering attractive premiums, and a total return that can hedge against inflation. The argument is that rent income increases in line with inflation. This characteristic seems feasible, especially in times of low interest rates. Even though rent from real estate may not always keep up with inflation, it is reasonable to assume that it will respond to inflation over time. Therefore, long run investment in real estate can secure protection against one of the biggest threats facing pension funds when investing in traditional assets like bonds, namely persistent and high inflation rates (Stanyer, 2014).

#### **3.1.4** Commodities

Commodities are distinguished from natural resources such as minerals by the fact that they have been extracted or produced. Energy products, agricultural products, metals, and building materials are some examples of commodities, which are goods that are generally available in large quantities. Examples include grains, oils, and steel. As an investment class, commodities are products with somewhat passive exposure (i.e., buy and hold) to commodity prices. The exposure can be obtained through futures contracts, physical commodities, natural resource companies, and exchange-traded funds (CAIA Association and Chambers, 2020).

Exposure to commodities through futures can be obtained either directly or through commodity managers. Unlike an option, a futures contract is an agreement to exchange an underlying asset on a specified settlement or delivery date. Long positions in the contract represent an agreement to buy, and short positions represent an agreement to sell. Most futures contracts do not end with delivery but rather with both parties closing their positions prior to the delivery date. Most participants do not engage in futures contracts for the purpose of taking or making delivery; rather, they do so to take on or off the price risk associated with the underlying asset. Participants in the market who wish to maintain exposure to a commodity roll over their positions periodically from contracts close to delivery to contracts with later delivery dates. For example, selling the expiring March contract and buying the June futures contract (Chambers et al., 2018).

#### 3.1.5 Hedge funds

Hedge funds are a popular type of alternative investment, at least in the US. They can be described as privately held investment companies that offer a pooled investment strategy, managed by professional investment firms with only a few restraints. The idea of adding hedge funds to the portfolio is to obtain returns that differ from those achieved in the more common stock and bond markets. This is achieved by investing in less popular and regulated instruments

Although hedge funds strategies typically differ among individual funds there are certain aspects that they have in common. Their commission is usually constructed in such a manner that it is highly favorable to the manager when the fund is doing a decent job.

Hedge fund managers usually charge both management and performance fees. The management fee most often lies within the range of 1-2% of the asset value and is charged regardless of how the underlying assets are changing in value. The incentive fee usually amounts for 10-20% of profits earned over the year. Commonly, hedge funds have worked by the 2-20 rule meaning 2% management fee and 20% performance fee. Another distinction for hedge funds is their flexibility when it comes to portfolio construction, as hedge funds are usually focusing on investments that are not publicly available. That gives them more flexibility than other traditional funds, since private placements are less regulated and offer more disclosure with respect to how the portfolio is constructed. This private placement structure means that the investors, for instance pension funds, are called limited partners and the hedge fund managers are called general managers. Decisions regarding investments are made by the general manager (Chambers et al., 2018).

In the annual report from 2015 of the second largest pension fund in The Netherlands, PFZW an announcement with the following message followed; Most of the remaining investments in the hedge fund investment category was sold in 2015 with the asset class no longer being a part of the strategic asset mix. This decision was taken in 2014, due to hedge funds complexity and its contribution to the fund was uncertain. In addition the contribution to our sustainability policy was expected to be low with high costs (PFZW, 2015).

This raises the possible question of whether hedge funds in the future become less desirable for pension funds due to their disclosure setting, making the tracking of sustainability harder, which is becoming ever more important with time.

#### **3.1.6** Private debt

In a low interest rate world, it can be appealing for investors to turn their attention to private debt to generate higher returns and to diversify their investment portfolio. According to (Preqin n.d) private debt is a relatively new trend in the world of alternatives as it emerged as a key asset class from the financial crisis of 2008, when traditional lenders such as banks moved away from risky loans. That created space for alternative source of lending, which private lenders filled.

Today this type of asset has grown to be the third largest private capital asset class for pension funds behind private equity and real estate, respectively.

Private debt is when institutions other than banks provide loans that are not traded publicly to companies or individuals. This lending can be done both to listed and unlisted companies as well as to projects that fall under the criteria of real assets such as real estate and infrastructure. One feature of private debt is that it is often regarded as a low-risk investment choice compared to other alternative investments. That is because firms are purchasing the debt of the companies that they are lending to, instead of acquiring equity. In case of financial distress or bankruptcy, debt is paid out ahead of equity making private debt less risky than private equity and therefore private debt has a lower expected return compared to private equity.

For pension funds, investing in private debt can be beneficial as it functions as an alternative to fixed income investments, has a relatively low correlation to other types of assets and generates predictable income. In the Danish pension fund, PensionDanmark, the investment strategy states that the main focal point is to build a well-diversified portfolio. Achieved by investing in robust credit investments with long term maturities and gains of the illiquidity premium (PensionDanmark, 2020).

In Iceland, pension funds have mainly been focusing on mortgage to their fund members and have over the past years increased their share on the market drastically at the cost of commercial banks. For instance, the share of direct lending to fund members as a fraction of total bond value increased from 13% in 2015 to 24% in 2020 for LIVE, the second largest fund in Iceland (LIVE, 2020).

#### **3.2 Valuation**

An asset's value may be difficult to determine in the absence of an organized market and choosing the most suitable method of valuation requires judgment. Different valuation techniques are likely to produce different results. This is a consequence of the fact that different inputs are used and adjustments to the balance sheet may differ according to the method of choice.

In IFRS (2013), fair value of an investment is defined as the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability would occur between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit price). The timing and/or amount of future cash flow and other factors are often uncertain in such financial reporting measurements.

The framework also states a variety of techniques, which are not explicitly required for determining the most appropriate valuation technique. However, depending on the facts and circumstances, it recommends a usage of more than one technique to see how the results compare.

The following factors should be considered by an investor when selecting the most appropriate valuation techniques:

- Market conditions
- Investment type and horizon
- Life cycle of investment
- The industry in which the investment operates

One way to determine investment value is to use a discounted cash flow method, or DCF. The DCF model is classified as either a direct or indirect model. In the direct model, the investment's value is calculated by discounting the free cash flows, which uses only cash transactions, while the indirect model values the investment by using net income and adding non-cash expenses to determine its value (Plenborg & Kinserdal, 2020).

The present value of all future cash flows determines the value of an investment when using a DCF model. Mathematically, this can be written as:

$$Enterprise \, Value_0 = \sum_{t=1}^{\infty} \frac{(FCFF_t)}{(1+WACC)^t} \tag{1}$$

Where  $FCFF_t$  is the after-tax free cash flow at time t and WACC is the weighted average cost of capital. Meaning that either higher cash flows or lower WACC increases the investment/firm value and decreases if the effects are opposite.

WACC can be defined as:

$$WACC = \frac{E}{V} * r_e + \frac{D}{V} * r_d (1 - T)$$
 (2)

Where:

E = Market value of equityD = Market value of debtV = Total investment value $r_e = Required rate of return on equity$  $r_d = Required rate of return on debt$ 

In the case of debt financing, (1-T) describes the tax shield associated with it. The required rate of return on equity  $r_e$ , can be derived from the CAPM model, where risk is considered through the beta coefficient. A risk-averse investor seeks the highest return possible for given risk; therefore, they do not want to take a risk by investing in a new investment if they can gain a higher return by investing in the market portfolio.

$$Enterprise \ value_0 = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{FCCF_t}{(1+WACC)^t} + \frac{FCCF_{(n+1)}}{WACC-g} * \frac{1}{(1+WACC)^n}$$
(3)

The approach can also be specified as a two-stage model to give better intuition, seen in equation (3). The first part is a forecast of revenues and cost, labelled as a budget period, then followed by a terminal period. In the terminal period, cash flows are assumed to be steady at an annual growth rate. Due to the underlying drivers, calculations of the company's total value contain uncertainty. Meaning that a short budget period leads to a larger part of the value coming from the terminal period. Underlining the importance of a correct budget period for each specific investment. Although the discounted cash flow model is a technically relatively simple valuation approach, it requires inputs that are time consuming to generate (Plenborg and Kinserdal 2020).

Another method of valuing alternatives is to use multiples or relative valuation models. Investors value investments based on multiples of peers which have assets that that are comparable, meaning that expected growth rates, cost of capital and profitability are the same.

Earnings multiples, or P/E, compare earnings generated by a company to its current market price; EBITDA is often substituted for net profits in this calculation. This comparison can be problematic however since the compared industry can be under or overvalued. Revenue multiples use price over revenue in valuation. Compared to other multiples, revenue is less affected by accounting. Book Value multiples use price over the book value of a public company's assets. It can vary among industries as a solar panel company should have more assets than an unlisted software company (John Wiley & Sons, 2020).

Precedent transaction analysis is a valuation method in which the price paid for similar instruments in the past is considered an indicator of an investment value. When conducting such analysis, investors must consider factors such whether the environment that the investment operates in is dynamic, and if market conditions have changed over time. Since otherwise it might bias the estimation when transaction prices are used as a measurement of fair value of instruments at measurement dates.

Lastly, there is the adjusted net asset value method, NAV, which derives the fair value of equity instruments from its assets and liabilities (recognized and unrecognized) as seen in equation 4. Depending on which measurement method is used to measure assets and liabilities, the results can vary. That means that, sometimes, assets and liabilities need to be adjusted, usually in intangible assets, property and equipment, receivables, and financial assets since they are not measured at fair value. Another example, is an investor measuring the fair value of unlisted equity, as he must consider whether potential performance fees are recognized appropriately in the fund's net asset value (IFRS, 2013).

$$Net \ asset \ value = Value \ of \ assets - Value \ of \ liabilities \tag{4}$$

#### 3.2.1 Valuation in practice

Taking a closer look at the annual reports of individual pension funds in the countries we have studied so far, shows that they conduct valuation in different ways. One common feature that they all have is that they receive valuations from external fund managers, which they then perceive as the value. Sometimes they are compared with own calculations of the fund, or back tested. The methods these external fund managers use however are unfortunately undisclosed. For most of the funds, individual information was unavailable in terms of which method was used for each asset category. To sum things up, table 2 shows the different methods used when information was available for two selected pension funds in each country.

	Pension fund - Country							
	Australian Super	QSuper	AP	PFA	ABP	PFZW	LIVE	LSR
Valuation methods	Australia	Australia	Denmark	Denmark	The Netherlands	The Netherlands	Iceland	Iceland
Reported values*	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Reported values-back tested**			$\checkmark$					
DCF	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Multiples	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$				
Precedent transaction values		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Net asset values					$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		

Table 2: Valuations Methods used for alternative assets for selected pension funds. Source: Annual reports from 2020

\*Valuations from external fund managers

\*\*Reported values, compared to own calculations

#### **3.3 Investment cycle of alternatives and secondary funds**

The majority of alternative investments have a long-term nature. With a full cycle possibly lasting nearly a decade and involving many different aspects of the financial system. The different investment steps, and the order in which they are executed are illustrated in figure 8. The steps are usually the same among different alternatives, but with a large variation with respect how long each step takes, and the methods used. Firstly, investing in alternatives requires deployment of capital where the timing varies across the different asset classes. The longest period involves private equity, where an acquisition of an entire company or a large share of one, can last for months, even with the failure of a deal. While the shortest time is investments in hedge funds that invest in liquid securities which are traded on exchanges. In that case, investments can take from milliseconds to days. Same goes for exiting such investments, it can be short as microseconds or take up to a year.

Funds handling investments in alternative assets are mostly closed-end funds that do not allow investors withdrawals of capital due to the illiquidity of the investments. Open-ended fund structures, on the other hand, allow investors to request the return of their capital at any time.

Prior to becoming closed, a fund-raising period usually occurs which lasts from 6-18 months, where the fund receives contributions from investors. When the fund is eventually closed, the investment process begins. This is not the case for hedge funds, since they are usually open ended which allows for raising of capital and investing at the same time. Investors looking to get out of their closed fund position can sell their stakes to secondary funds that specialize in such deals (World Economic Forum 2015).



Figure 8: Closed fund investment cycle for private equity. Source World Economic Forum 2015

An active secondary market has developed over the past two decades, allowing investors to sell their investments in private equity funds. Transactions in this "over-the-counter" market consist of the transfer of a limited partnership interest from the selling Limited Partner ("Seller") to the new owner ("Buyer"), who assumes all rights and obligations of the Seller, as well as any remaining open commitments to the funds being transferred. In most cases, the General Partner ("GP") who is responsible for managing the affairs of the private equity fund must consent to this transfer process.

The price of secondary market securities is determined by the reported valuations that private equity funds publish, typically on a quarterly basis, and expressed as a percentage of the reported Net Asset Value (NAV). Buyers and sellers generally agree on a valuation date (sometimes referred to as a "reference date") at the start of a transaction. The valuation date (reference date) corresponds to the NAV valuation date and is used to determine the settlement of cash flows (capital calls and distributions prior to the closing date) between the buyer and seller. Cash flows occurring after the reference date are considered when calculating the final purchase price at closing. The seller is usually reimbursed for capital calls, while distributions are kept by the seller and reduce the purchase price. Any changes to the valuation of the underlying fund interests will generally benefit – or adversely affect – the buyer and will not affect the final payment. Private equity investors have a wide range of liquidity options and solutions available to them today, following a decade of strong volume growth in the private equity secondary market involving venture capital, real estate, and infrastructure (CAIA, 2016).

Global secondaries transaction volume saw a record of 132\$billion USD in 2021, see (James, 2022), a 486% increase from 2010 (Lodge, 2021). With the increased demand for alternatives, a secondary market is growing as well, which is advantageous for individual institutional investors. Consequently, funds experiencing liquidity shocks for example, can exit their positions. The secondary market, however, is still small when compared to alternative investments, meaning that if large shocks occur to many pensions' funds' liquidity, the story may be different. In other words, the secondary market might not be able to serve everyone's needs.



Figure 9: Market volume for secondary transactions 2002-2021. Source: Commonfund and own calculations

#### 3.3 Legislation

Pension funds face many restraints regarding how they operate. Legislation is one of them and affects how they can invest and how they must keep track of their solvency. Laws regarding investments can impose a particular maximum, or a minimum percentage allowed to be invested in a particular asset category. Pension funds investment laws differ by countries and are usually enforced by the local financial supervisory authority or the central bank.

#### 3.3.1 Solvency and liquidity

In the European union, of which Denmark and the Netherlands are members, the Solvency II directive came into effect on 1 January 2016. The main goal of the directive was to harmonize the EU insurance regulation, primarily regarding required capital firms must hold to reduce the risk of insolvency. The regulation also introduced prudential requirements tailored to the specific risks faced by each insurer or in our case, pension funds. The prudential requirement states that, companies must invest their assets in a way that serves their customers' interests in the best way possible and is resilient to fluctuations in financial markets. In general, insurance companies and pension funds can only invest in assets that can be adequately identified, measured, monitored, managed, controlled, and reported. Thus, promoting transparency, comparability, and competitiveness within the sector.

The Solvency II directive has three main pillars:

- **Pillar 1**: Quantitative requirements
- **Pillar 2**: Requirements for the governance, risk management and supervision
- **Pillar 3**: Focus on transparency and disclosure requirements.

The first pillar, quantitative requirements, includes regulations concerning valuation of assets (particularly technical provisions), capital requirements and identification of own funds to cover these requirements.

Own funds are calculated using a standard Solvency II formula or a pre-approved internal model by the local financial supervision authority. Regulations require internal models to meet strict requirements, such as risk profiles, statistical quality, and governance. This makes the acceptance of a model a lengthy and complex process. Assets and liabilities are valued by their market value, or IFRS fair value. Based on the difference between the two, the available equity is determined. A technical provision is the amount an insurer is required to maintain on its balance sheet to settle all existing debt with policyholders. In the case of pension liabilities, where obligations lie further into the future, the valuation of technical provisions are based on a best estimate plus a risk margin using statistical methods. Two of the most relevant capital requirements are the Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR) and the Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR). The SCR specifies the amount of capital required to enable a company to absorb significantly unforeseen losses from investment risks. It is based on a value at risk (VaR) of 99.5%, which means that a company should have sufficient capital to be 99.5% certain it will be able to cover their worst-case scenario within the coming year. The minimum capital requirement is the amount of capital a company must maintain before the risk of insolvency is too high and the authorities intervene. In accordance with the directive, the MCR cannot exceed 45% of the company's SCR or be below 25% of the SCR (Starita and Malafronte, 2014).

The second pillar focuses mainly on governance, including own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA). The ORSA report is an internal process used to assess the adequacy of solvency positions under different stress scenarios and risk management processes. It also relates to the organization and operations in general, reliability of directs, internal control and outsourcing. The report requires insures to analyze all relevant material risks that can impact the ability to meet policyholders' obligations.

The third pillar, which consists of four parts, deals with transparency and financial supervisors. The first part covers solvency, financial position, and their statements. The second part is on supervisory reporting, the third is on reporting in predefined events and the last on is on policy regarding publication of information and reporting to the local regulator (EIOPA 2009a).

In addition to Solvency II, local laws in Denmark and the Netherlands also contribute to the regulatory framework for the pension funds.

Dutch laws regulate pension funds liquidity through funding ratios. The funding ratio shows whether there is enough capital for the fund to pay out all pensions now and in the future. It indicates whether the fund has adequate reserves to pay out benefits to its current and future members. The investment of assets is divided by the value of liabilities (present and future), which is expressed in percentage terms and can be seen in equation 5. The current value of liabilities is calculated using an actuarial interest rate, which is determined by the DNB and is the market interest rate (risk-free). Regulations govern the funding ratio percentage. For example, pension funds are not permitted to apply partial or full index-linking unless their funding ratio exceeds 110%. Index-linking means that a pension fund can raise pensions in line with rising inflation. Pension funds must take steps to improve their financial condition if their funding ratio is too low (below 104%). When it is between 104% and 110% index linking is not available. This means that the pension benefits do not increase with inflation, and when it is greater than 110% partial or full index linking is available. The purpose of the regulation is to ensure that pension funds distribute their assets properly between current and future pensioners. In extreme cases, where the funding ratio falls below 104% for five consecutive years, it may be necessary to either increase contributions or reduce benefits (DNB, n.d).

$$Funding \ ratio = \frac{Value \ of \ assets}{Value \ of \ Liabilities} * 100\%$$
(5)

In Denmark, the regulation is more mixed, meaning that rules regarding the funds differ depending on which scheme the fund offers. It can also be that the fund offers both DB and DC schemes meaning that it must follow two regulatory requirements on how assets and future liabilities are valued. They also differ depending on whether the scheme is inflation guaranteed or not. For guaranteed products (DB), the Danish FSA sets the maximum basic interest rate that pension funds must use to discount future liabilities, but for present liabilities that are already

guaranteed(present) they remain the same. In 2020 this rate was 1% but changed to -0,5% in 2021 (Erhvervsministeriet, 2015).

Australia has no formal funding and solvency requirements on defined contribution funds. Defined benefit funds, however, are faced with own governing rules and legislation (Thomson Reuter, 2022). Since our focus is mainly on defined contribution funds in Australia, we will not go into further details.

Iceland's law mandates that every year the board of the individual pension funds must carry out an actuarial examination of their funds. Following the examination, the results are included in the annual report. This examination must be conducted by someone independent of the institution and the inspection must be based on government rules derived from factors such as mortality rates and real interest rates, which in 2020 were 3,5% above inflation. These factors are then used to determine the present value of present and future pension benefits. Furthermore, the regulation specifies how net assets are to be calculated to pay pension liabilities. If the inspection reveals more than a ten percent deficit between the fund's assets and liabilities, adjustments must be made to future benefits. Additionally, this occurs if the deficit exceeds 5% for five consecutive years (Alþingi, 1997).

DB schemes appear to be more regulated when it comes to defining the net assets. This is because changes in liabilities are adjusted when the discount rate changes since they are guaranteed. Therefore, they may have to acquire additional technical provisions, whereas DC schemes do not.

## 3.3.2 Asset allocation

When it comes to asset allocation limits there is no specific ceiling in Australia. Pension funds, must however consider the prudent person principle when allocating investments, meaning adequate diversification is required, which is regulated by APRA, the Australian Prudential Regulation authority.

Followed by Denmark, the regulations differ depending on the type of the fund. The largest funds have the most leniency where there is no allocation limit, but Solvency II regulation and the prudent person principle apply. Two funds, ATP, and LD act according to their own regulation when it comes to diversifying (OECD, 2020).

A closer look at the regulation of investment allocation of pension funds in Australia, Denmark, Iceland, and The Netherlands are shown in table 3.

Country	Equity	Real estate	Bonds	Retail investmen ts funds	Private investme nt funds	Loans	Bank deposits	Foreign
Australia	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit
Denmark	Solvency II - PPP*	Solvency II - PPP*	Solvenc y II - PPP*	Solvency II - PPP*	Solvency II - PPP*	Solvenc y II - PPP*	Solvency II - PPP*	No limit
Iceland	Up to 60%	Up to 60%	100% public 80% private	<80% UCITS < 60% non UCITS	Up to 60%	No limit	No limit	OECD and EU Foreign currency exposure < 50% accrued liabilities
The Netherlands	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit	No limit

Table 3: Regulation for investment allocations. Source OECD Annual survey of investment regulation of pension funds

Note: PPP\* refers to the prudent person principle

Pension funds in the Netherlands are regulated by the Pensioenwet, Dutch law regarding pension funds. They do not include quantitative restrictions on asset allocation, but they require the investment policy of the pension funds to follow the prudent-person rule and some sort of diversification. Additionally, they must establish an investment cycle in which the strategic investment policy, investment plan, and implementation are periodically evaluated and reassessed (DNB, 2019).

The country with the most direct investment constraints is Iceland. Pension funds are not required to follow Solvency II, despite Iceland's membership in the EEA. However, there is Icelandic law, Lög um skyldutryggingu lífeyrisréttinda og starfsemi lífeyrissjóða, that regulates pension funds. The law specifies that equity can make up 60% of the total portfolio, 60% is allowed in real estate, 80% in private bonds, 60% in private investment funds and up to 80% in retail investment funds that are classified as UCITS, if not then 60%. Public bonds, loans and bank deposits are not subject allocation constraints.

Furthermore, the regulation specifies an aggregate constraint where the total allocation of those specific classes must not exceed 80% (Fjármálaeftirlitið, n.d).

$$C + D + E + F < 80\%$$
 (6)

$$D + E + F < 60\% \tag{7}$$

$$F < 10\% \tag{8}$$

Where:

## C: Bonds that are issued by banks and insurance companies, UCITS.

- D: Corporate bonds issued by non UCITS CIS
- E: Equity shares in non-UCITS CIS
- F: Financial derivatives

Compared to each other, the countries have different approaches to asset allocation regulation. Iceland relies heavily on prescriptive investment limits whereas the other countries rely more on the prudent person principle and other arguments related to investment diversification.
# 4. Theory of pension investing

# 4.1 Modern Portfolio Theory

When an investor makes an investment choice, he is faced with two key decisions. First, he needs to know which investment categories to invest in, and second how to best allocate his financial resources. One method to estimate investment decisions and asset allocations is the Modern portfolio theory of Henry Markowitz.

The intuition is that an investor can construct an optimal portfolio, which maximizes expected returns by taking on a quantifiable amount of risk. Typically, investments that yield high returns come with high risk, whereas investments that yield low returns come with low risk. By using investment diversification, Markowitz suggested that investors could achieve the best result by calculating an optimal asset mix based on individual risk assessments. The risk of owning a particular asset is defined as its standard deviation from the mean in return; therefore, the risk of holding a portfolio of diverse individual stocks will be lower than the risk of holding any one of the individual stocks, provided that the risks of the individual stocks are not highly correlated. Markowitz showed that investment is not just about picking stocks, but also choosing the right mix of stocks among which to distribute one's nest egg (Markowitz, 1952).

Pension funds, as pointed out in Elton et al. (2014) optimize their portfolio returns differently than individual investors. Consequently, the portfolio may be prevented from reaching Markowitz's (1952) most efficient frontier. Solvency arguments may be one cause of this since the intent of pension portfolios is to meet future liabilities. Therefore, when considering asset mixes, outflows of future pension liabilities must also be considered. Therefore, it is critical to consider the tradability of the investments in the portfolio, or the ease with which they may be converted into cash. The most liquid assets are cash and market assets, while alternative assets such as real estate are among the least liquid. Pension funds must be able to withstand unanticipated changes in liquidity, underlining the importance of such considerations when constructing their portfolios. That is, the funds may be forced to hold a minimum amount of liquid assets in their portfolio to avoid problems with solvency. Lastly, tax and legal regulations might impact the asset allocation, with possibly stricter regulations or different tax rules on the different asset classes.

One major benefit of investing in alternatives is the often mentioned, low correlations with traditional market assets.

After a year of an ongoing pandemic, Australian Super (2020) noted in their annual report that their unlisted asset class proved to be less volatile than market assets, even though their value was update frequently. Underlining the low correlation argument and the benefits that it brings (AustralianSuper, 2020).

# 4.2 Capital asset pricing model – CAPM

The Capital Asset Pricing Model, better known as CAPM, was first introduced in the early 1960's by Sharpe (1964) and Lintner (1965) and is still today considered one of the most influential frameworks when it comes to financial theory. The model builds on the same assumptions as the MPT theory, by Markowitz, that is individuals only consider the return and the variance of the investment at hand. The model assumes that all investors in the CAPM world are of the same belief about the return, variance and the covariance of the financial instruments. Additionally, they can borrow at a given risk-free rate. Since all investors agree on the distribution of return, they will construct the same mean variance portfolio, mixed with the risk-free rate. In other words, all investors will invest in the tangency portfolio, but how much they will hold in it compared to the risk-free asset depends on their utility and risk aversion. In equilibrium the total demand for assets must equal the supply. Thus, the portfolio weights of the market are equal to those of the tangency portfolio resulting in the market portfolio being mean variance efficient.

Although the model makes simplistic assumptions about reality it can shed some light on the basic principles of financial theory. One extension of the CAPM was introduced by Jensen (1968) where the idea is to make a risk adjusted measure for a portfolio by making use of a time series regression on the portfolio. The intercept is called Jensen's alpha and measures whether the assets are mispriced relative to what the CAPM predicts. According to CAPM, the alphas for all the assets in the portfolio should be equal to 0 and if there is a positive alpha, that means the return of that particular asset is above what the CAPM predicts when taking the risk into account. Put differently, that particular asset is beating the market and generating better return for a given risk relative to what CAPM predicts (Fama and French, 2004).

The CAPM alpha's have been a subject of discussion with the growing popularity of alternatives. As pension funds and other yield-hungry investors show these private assets more interest, there is an increasing risk that the alphas will eventually dissapear, due to limited supply as the demand for such assets increases, and the prices of them going up (Michelle Teng, 2021).

### **4.3 Defined Benefit vs Defined Contribution**

As mentioned before, when it comes to asset allocation of individual pension funds, the difference can be quite substantial depending on which occupational scheme the fund is running on. DC schemes normally assign members to different pension investment pots where they can choose their preferred pot and therefore, their asset allocation. While some schemes offer around 3-10 choices, others offer hundreds which can have behavioral implications on investment choices made by the members (Sutcliffe, 2016). This was indeed confirmed by Iyengar and Kamenica (2010) where they found that as the size of the menu got larger, member moved towards investing in cash, bonds and avoided equities.

Individual's finances can change over the course of their lives, and lifetime asset allocation can be altered by changes in relative prices. According to consumption theory, such changes should lead to rebalancing of an individuals' portfolio but that is not the case as shown in Keim and Mitchell (2015). To account for this, life cycle or lifestyle pots have been introduced where asset allocation automatically, and gradually changes from risky investments to low risk as the individual approaches' retirement.

DB schemes investment decisions are made by the sponsor or their delegated agent, for the entire fund on a pooled basis, making the asset allocation decision different compared to a DC fund. The funding ratio, which is the ratio between available assets and liabilities, is also more heavily regulated in DB schemes, potentially causing implications on asset allocation (Sutcliffe, 2016).

Since future benefits are not guaranteed in DC schemes unlike the case for DB plans, lower interest rates have different effects on the two schemes. The present value of future benefits is calculated using discount rates, which are derived from market rates in The Netherlands. That means if the market rate goes down, the present value of liabilities rises, while only being partially offset by changes in asset values. This is referred to as a duration gap. One way to reduce a negative duration gap is to increase the duration of assets. That can be achieved by investing in either long term bonds or swaps, which can restrict investment decisions of funds seeking returns (Kortleve and Ponds, 2010).



Figure 10: Policy funding ratio of selected Dutch pension funds 2015-2020. Source: DeNederlandsche Bank

This scenario is similar to the development of the Netherlands over the last 10 years, where the proportion of fixed income investments has increased from 42,1% to 47,5% in the years 2010-2020 in the aggregate asset allocation described in chapter 2.

Figure 10 shows the change in the funding ratio from 2015-2020 for selected Dutch pension funds which all are included in our analysis later.

The Dutch system came under a lot of pressure due to the increased negative duration gap in 2019. With claims coming out that future benefits had to be reduced (CNN, 2019). The overall pressure on the Dutch pension system due to lower interest rates and increased longevity has sparked discussions of reforms. In 2019, an agreement was reached between the government, unions, and employers over pension reforms, where the intention is to move away from DB towards DC.

### **4.3.1** The Dutch pension reforms

As argued by ABP, the largest pension fund in The Netherlands, times have changed since the old Dutch pension system was enacted, where fewer people now work for the same employer throughout their lives and more people work as freelancers, as well as longer lifespans. In the old pension system, changing pension funds could result in complicated calculations of pension benefits. This means, for example, that employees who left their pension fund half-way through their career to start their own business would potentially build up insufficient pension in

comparison to their contributions. Therefore, the redesigned DC scheme should be better aligned with the changes in demographics and the labor market (ABP, n.d).

Switching to a DC scheme allows pension providers accommodate for the different investment preferences of their members. Younger cohorts, for example, are still several years away from retirement and can continue to contribute for a long time. As a result, pension funds can assume greater risks on their behalf. Compared to younger groups, older cohorts have fewer chances to recover from volatile and potentially lower returns making funds less willing to take on risk on their behalf, as they require a higher degree of security (DNB, n.d).

This increased flexibility in investing that comes from both, less sensitivity on the liability side when changes occur in interest, and the opportunity to split investments into different pools depending on the member's age. This can have substantial effects on how the pension funds choose to allocate their investments. As of 2020, 84,10% of all liabilities on the asset side of occupational schemes in Europe were held by DB funds and 15,9% by DC funds. Out of the 84,10%, 75,41% came from Dutch DB funds (Mac, 2018).



Figure 11: Percentage of bonds in Europe held by DB and DC schemes respectively in 2020. Source: European Insurance and Occupational Pension Authority 2020. Note: Other EU countries include Austria, Belgium, Spain, Finland, France, Italy, Portugal, Sweden, Slovenia, Germany, Croatia, Luxembourg, Norway, Denmark, Liechtenstein, Latvia, and Malta. Data does not include sovereign pension funds.

With over 1.7 trillion euros in assets under management, the Dutch system is by far the largest in the Euro area. Therefore, a shift towards a DC scheme is expected to have a positive effect on the equity financing sector, in addition to boosting the already growing investment fund sector. This also applies for other asset categories, such as alternative investments. As a result, long-term bonds and swaps will be structurally reduced. In a recent report by the ECB, empirical evidence is provided which underlines the reduced demand following a change from DB to DC schemes. One of them is that market demand for certain maturities has an impact on how the yield curve shapes see Cox, Ingersoll, and Ross (1985). Which is very relevant, given the Dutch funds preferences towards long term government bonds. Additionally, the negative duration gap of a DB pension funds typically widens when interest rates decline, due to the negative convexity on the balance sheet. Negative convexity is primarily caused by a size effect since interest-bearing assets tends to be a small proportion of total liabilities. The (longer) duration of the liabilities is more sensitive to a decline in interest rates than the (shorter) duration of the assets. In response to a widening duration gap, DB pension funds can increase their exposure to long-term bonds and swaps when interest rates decline, as discussed earlier. Hedging using derivatives can amplify the impact of rate shocks, possibly at the cost of returns. With the transition of the Dutch system the share of DC schemes in the euro is area is expected to rise over time from about 17% to 77% (ECB, 2021).

### 5. Literature review

Researchers, like investors, have shown increased interested in private investment and how they affect portfolios over the years. Karavas (2000) demonstrated that pension funds can benefit from allocating a fraction of their portfolio to private, illiquid assets. As a result of his analysis, alternative investment must be included in the portfolio and supplement traditional assets, such as equity and bonds to obtain the highest possible return given the risk.

In their empirical study, Fischer and Lind-Braucher (2010) concluded that investors should consider alternatives when constructing their portfolio. Their result indicated that asset allocation with a mixture of alternatives and traditional investments generated a significantly better performance than a portfolio excluding alternatives, in the period of 1999-2009. The paper argues that an investor with a mixed portfolio would have gained a return exceeding 50% over the 10-year period while investing solely in stocks would have led to a loss of 20%. Therefore, the study showed that private investments have high diversification potential and are relevant in times of crisis. This is due to the low correlation in returns of alternatives, compared to more traditional assets, allowing investors to build a portfolio that is more resilient in loss of value.

Similarly, <u>Schweizer (2008)</u> argues that there are two fundamental reasons why the proportion of alternative assets has been rising over the years. During turbulent times with big drops in equity and bond values, alternative assets provided diversification since their return drivers typically show a low correlation with the drivers of equity and bonds. The second reason is that diversification does not adversely affect the expected return and risk performance. Thus, alternatives play a significant role when it comes to portfolio optimization, regardless of risk aversion.

Kräussl, Lehnert, and Rinne (2017) studied the effect of declining interest rates on asset allocation and concluded that low interest rates would encourage pension funds to allocate more of their assets to alternatives. This conclusion was, however, not supported by empirical evidence. Defau and De Moor (2020) followed up on this result by conducting empirical research on pension funds' investment behavior in alternatives. Prior to that there were no empirical studies to fully support the reasoning behind more alternative investing during low interest rate periods. Their results were opposite to what Kräussl et al found, namely that pension funds invested less in equities and increased their allocation to alternatives when interest rates were higher. In addition to that, their analysis suggests that pension funds with a higher focus on diversification tend to have a higher proportion of alternatives in their portfolio.

The goal of this thesis is to further expand research in alternative assets allocation of pension funds in low interest rate enjoinment, while emphasizing on the pension systems that are considered the best in the world. Our analysis will follow the same approach as Defau and De Moor (2020). Contrary to prior research, our analysis is not done with a private dataset, meaning that full disclosure of data in certain countries and funds can be made. The undisclosed dataset used in prior research consists of pension funds from the United States (54%), Canada (27,7%), Australia (1,3%), Eurozone (9%) and other (8%). Most of the dataset is dominated by the United States, ranked by Melbourne Mercer global pension index as C+ and Canada ranked as B. Whereas the countries chosen in this thesis are rated A or B+. Another new angle that separates this study from Defau & De Moor is that in their analysis 4447 funds were defined benefit funds, in a total amount of 5444 funds, or 81%. In our study large part of the sample, apart from the Netherlands, one fund in Australia, and a few funds in Denmark are defined as DC.

# 6. Empirical framework

### 6.1 Data

To perform the empirical study in this paper, data is required about how individual pension funds decide to allocate their assets and how those assets are developing over time. Since the aggregate data from OECD does not provide enough datapoints and is not precise enough, it cannot be used to draw conclusions from empirical methods. Therefore, to obtain adequate data, information was collected by going through and analyzing annual reports for the pension funds in Australia, Denmark, Iceland, and the Netherlands. In the financial statements, information regarding distribution of assets was gathered with a particular emphasis on alternative investments. That makes the information highly reliable since it comes directly from the funds themselves, but one drawback is that the four countries do not have the same regulations regarding how the balance sheet is presented. Meaning that sometimes calculations were required to make the data comparable. To maintain consistency, we avoided pension funds that had substantial changes to their balance sheet in the case of mergers. The collected datapoints are gathered on an annual basis and the time horizon for this research covers 11 years, or from 2010-2020. The reason for the relatively short period is the lack of available data, as not all pension funds publish their breakdown of assets with respect to alternatives prior to that time. In addition, it was often problematic to obtain annual reports prior to 2010, as that was the last available annual report for a large share of the funds. Overall, this gave us an unbalanced dataset of 50 pension funds which resulted in 485 observations over the 11 years. Individual pension funds in each country were chosen after size, where we started with the largest and worked our way down. This was done both to capture a larger share of the assets of the system and larger funds often had better information on how the assets were allocated. Below is a detailed description of how the data for each country was collected.

The Australian data used in this analysis builds on information from 13 different superannuation funds obtained from their annual report. In total we have a dataset which consists of 143 observations spread over the research period. The size of these 13 pension funds covered more than a half of the Australian system in June 2020. One thing worth mentioning is that in Australia the financial year differs from what we are used to in Europe. The annual report describes an activity which takes place from 1<sup>st</sup> July to 30<sup>th</sup> June the following year. Therefore, the investment performance is based on 30<sup>th</sup> June each year instead of 31<sup>st</sup> December, which is the date used by

the other countries. While it is important to keep this difference in mind, we conclude that since we are analyzing the situation over time and this gap is always the same, it is possible to compare the trend in asset allocation between the countries based on averages. In addition, all other explanatory variables for Australia will be adjusted for the right dates. By examining financial statements of individual funds, we were able to acquire knowledge as to how asset classes have been evolving over the last decade. The funds specify how the portfolio is divided into domestic and foreign securities such as shares and fixed interest instruments but also include information on categories such as property, infrastructure, and other assets in their report. That makes it possible to calculate how much falls into each of the four categories we use for this thesis and determine with accuracy the proportion of alternative assets relative to assets under management. The four categories are: 1) listed equity, 2) bonds, 3) alternatives and 4) other investments which mostly consists of deposits and are not considerable part of the total investment.

In Denmark, pension funds publish specifications of their assets as a part of the financial statement. Generally, they specify how much of their portfolio is invested in different asset types such as bonds, listed and unlisted equity, real estate and so on. Thus, we were able to isolate the fraction that pension funds choose to invest in alternative assets and access how it changes over time.

In our analysis we collected data for 13 of the largest funds in Denmark. These are pension funds that receive contributions from workers and are accountable for approximately 70 % of the assets in the Danish pension system. Prior to new law in 2015, the pension funds were not required to give full disclosure of their total asset allocated into the two different schemes, markedsrente or DC and DB, gennemsnitsrente (Erhvervsministeriet, 2015). Consequently, data before 2015 only shows either DC or DB allocations for some funds, usually depending on which is larger. With growing popularity of DC schemes in Denmark, like mentioned in chapter 2, excluding them before 2015 would therefore give a skewed image of the real asset allocation of the funds. If data before 2015 would be included, we would only be able to include one scheme into the calculations as otherwise large jumps would occur between 2014 and 2015 due to missing data. Therefore, the decision was made to only include data from 2015-2020 in Denmark which overall, gave us 78 datapoints.

Pension funds in Iceland are required to calculate and publish multiples that specify how the percentage of their total assets in listed and unlisted financial instruments have evolved over the

last 5 years. Therefore, it is easy to access data for how much the funds place in both listed and unlisted equity as well as bonds. Furthermore, they disclose how much goes into other investment such as cash and deposits. One drawback is that Icelandic pension funds do not give any details about how their portfolio of unlisted assets is distributed across various types. For this study, information was collected for 11 funds operating in Iceland who were responsible for managing assets exceeding 75% of the Icelandic system in the year 2020.

The portfolio for each fund was divided into the same four sub-categories as before which makes it possible to observe how much of the total portfolio is distributed to alternative assets. The calculations were done for all 11 years, giving in total 485 observations.

Like with the other countries, data for The Netherlands was acquired by going through annual reports issued by pension funds. Pension funds in the Netherlands give a more detailed information of how they allocate their assets, especially when it comes to non-traditional assets. Thus, information about precisely how much is invested in real estate, private equity, hedge funds and infrastructure are a common sight in Dutch financial statements. To make the data comparable across countries the portfolio for each fund was divided into the usual categories namely, listed equity, fixed income, alternatives, and other investments.

For the Dutch data, information about 13 of the biggest pension funds was used which covers roughly 70% of the total pension system assets and includes 143 datapoints.

### 6.1.1 Interest rates

The aim of this thesis is like previously stated, to explore to what extent pension funds alter their investment strategy when interest rates change over time. Interest rates are one of the key components that must be considered when portfolios are constructed. Changing interest rate affect the cost of borrowing money. When interest rates rise it becomes more expensive to borrow and lower rates make it cheaper to access capital. For the traditional investment choices this relationship is clear. Interest rates and bonds have a well-known negative relationship, meaning lower rates push the price of bonds up. For equity there is an inverse relationship as well, while the effect might not be direct. Lower rates generally lead to a shift in low-risk securities to instruments with a higher risk (U.S Securities & Exchange Commission, 2013). Declining interest rates decrease investors incentive to store their capital in deposits and government bonds, while increasing their will to invest in high yield bonds and other assets to obtain returns. In addition, lower interest rates, lead to increased lending capacity of banks and other financial institutions and with lower interest rates, firms financing cost should decline which has a positive effect on their operation and price valuation.

When it comes to alternatives, the relationship is however not that simple. As seen in figure 1 from chapter 2 long term nominal interest rates have decreased over the last two decades. This trend has made investments in relatively safe government bonds unappealing and returns on deposits have been close to none or even negative. To analyze the relationship between alternatives and interest rates further we gathered data for each country over the 11-year period from OECD on annual nominal long term interest rates, which refer to the yield on government bonds maturing in ten years. The rates are mainly determined by the price charged by the lender, risk related to the borrower and a fall in capital value. With long-term interest rates generally being averages of daily rates, measured as a percentage. The implied prices depend on the price which the government bonds are traded on financial markets, not the interest rates at which the loans were issued.

In all cases, they refer to bonds whose capital repayment is guaranteed by governments (OECD, 2022).

# 6.1.2 Pension fund size

To what extend fund size has on asset allocation has been well covered in the literature. Boon, Briere, and Rigot (2014) found that a standard deviation increase in asset size under management, would lead to a considerable increase in risky assets, especially alternative assets. The argument they provided was that larger and more sophisticated funds have resources to hire professionals who can monitor and track investment performance in complicated assets for instance, infrastructure and private equity. López-Villavicencio and Rigot (2013) presented similar results in their research, finding that larger funds allocate more to private equity, while equity was unaffected by pension fund size.

Since none of the pension funds settle in the same currency, we converted the size reported in the financial statement into millions of euros. The collected data is reported on an annual basis and thus the average exchange rate of each currency for the corresponding year in our analysis was used.

Table 4 shows the average size of the pension funds in millions of euros. The average fund size has grown considerably in every country over the decade, most in Iceland where on average

pension funds have more than tripled the value of assets under management. It is clear however that when performing the econometric analysis, it is not ideal to use levels of size as an explanatory variable. The reason is twofold. Firstly, due to heteroscedasticity, as we move ahead in time the variance of the size is not constant but is getting larger. The second reason is the likelihood of large outliers both on the upside as well as the downside. In absolute value, the Dutch funds are by far the largest ones and for instance did ABP report a value of nearly 575 billion euros in 2020 which is nearly twice the size of the second biggest fund PFZT and more than 3 times greater than the average Dutch pension fund in 2020. At the same time some of the Icelandic funds scrape the bottom and hardly exceed 500 million euros, which sounds like a large amount but is nowhere near the average fund size. Since we are only interest to see if larger funds allocate more to alternatives but not by how much we take the natural logarithm and transform the data. This is to alter the scale, while maintaining the correct size order, therefore monocity is maintained while heteroscedasticity is reduced.

Year	Australia	Denmark	Iceland	The Netherlands
2010	19.236		703	40.104
2011	23.230		779	43.685
2012	27.647		910	51.437
2013	30.883		1.012	52.626
2014	33.521		1.192	64.730
2015	38.104	24.867	1.456	63.721
2016	39.524	27.309	1.750	70.641
2017	45.138	29.034	2.176	76.865
2018	48.367	29.699	2.244	75.624
2019	53.959	34.935	2.462	89.355
2020	57.945	37.747	2.534	97.293

Table 4: The average size of pension funds for each country. Source: Annual reports and own calculations

Note: Amounts are in millions of euros.

### 6.1.3 Diversification

According to an international survey conducted by PwC (2015) vast majority of pension fund across the globe mentioned diversification benefits as the main reason for investing in alternatives. Over 80% of the participants said that mixing the portfolio with alternatives provides them with a

reduction in volatility due to low correlations to market assets and its possibility to lower shortterm fluctuations, without impacting long term expected returns.

To capture the effects diversification has on alternatives we constructed a dummy variable which takes the value 1 if pension funds invest less than 60% of their assets under management in one particular asset class and 0 otherwise. In other words, if pension funds place more than 60% of their capital in one investment category they are defined as investors who do not exhibit characteristics of diversifying risk across different asset classes. This is based off the idea of the classic risk diversifying 60/40 portfolio. Figure 12 illustrates the trend of diversifying pension funds in our sample. As one might expect, most of the funds capitalize on the benefits of diversification, where around 85% allocate less than 60% into one category. There can however be reasonable explanations why pension funds might want to be conservative when it comes to their investment strategy as their structure is not identical. For example, ATP, Denmark's biggest pension fund splits its portfolio into two parts, a hedging portfolio which accounts for 80% of the total assets and an investment portfolio which covers the remaining 20%. The purpose of the hedging portfolio is according to ATP's investment approach, to obtain a high degree of security for its members so the fund can honor its guaranteed pension benefits in the future (ATP, 2020). This is done by tying up a considerable proportion of the fund's asset in "safe investments" while the investment portfolio is intended to include more risky assets. All this is reflected in ATP choosing to allocate more than 70% of their portfolio on average in fixed income during the sample years.

Most of the drops and increases over the years can be attributed to changes in fixed income and equity, which are not tied to any country.



Figure 12: Percentage of pension funds that diversify by investing less than 60% in one asset class. Source: Annual reports and own calculations

#### 6.1.4 Defined benefit funds

When trying to estimate the impact changing interest rates have on asset allocation it is important to account for how the pension liabilities of the funds are structured, that is whether the funds operate as a defined benefit or defined contribution. The former type guarantees fund members some pre-determined income in the future while the return in the second scheme is not guaranteed and depends on contributions and market returns over time. As discussed in chapter 4.3 these two pension schemes have different sensitivities when changes occur in the interest rate.

When it comes to DB the pension liabilities are more regulated and often computed by discounting the cash flow using long-term interest rates or other interest rates which correspond to the current economic environment. Therefore, decreasing long term interest rate will increase the future liabilities of the pension fund, while at the same time, lead to an increase in the value of the bond portfolio. To what extend this affects the DB funds will depend on what changes more. In the case of DC which offer no guarantee of future benefits, and are affected by market returns, the reduction in interest rate will be reflected in higher bond prices. By how much will depend on the duration of the assets. Thus, DC will show an increasing return, at least in the short run when interest rates decline (Antolin, Schich, and Yermo, 2011).

To isolate the different reactions to lower interest rates depending on the type of the funds, we constructed a dummy variable which takes the value 1 if the fund is DB and 0 otherwise. In Denmark, many funds have actively been shifting their assets away from DB towards DC. Since some of the funds operate under a mixed system, meaning a fraction of the fund members still enjoy guaranteed benefits, while others choose to link their future benefits to market rates, we define those funds where more than 60% of assets that are tied to guaranteed benefits as DB in our analysis. The reason for 60% and not a simple majority is to prevent fluctuations between years. In total, this resulted in 204 DB funds and 281 DC funds.

# 6.1.5 Fund member's age and maturity

When trying to explain by how much retirement funds allocate their assets into alternatives, another crucial factor to take into consideration is the pension fund member's active participation rate. Active participation has been defined in different ways and Turner and Muller (2013) define active participation in DC schemes as whether one has contributed to the fund for a given year

while the Icelandic pension fund Live (2021) defines it as those who have been contributing regularly to the fund on a monthly basis over the year.

It is well known that nations around the globe are getting older, see UN (2020). Thus it is crucial for pension funds to take the maturity of its members into considerations when allocating their assets under management. Defau and Moor (2018) show that funds with a higher participation rate, that is fund with a higher fraction of younger members, invest more of their assets in risky assets, whereas mature funds have a more conservative investment approach and invest a higher proportion in safe assets such as bonds. Our hypothesis is in line with previous literature, and we expect a positive relationship between the participation rate and percentage of assets allocated to alternative assets. Pension funds with younger members, and therefore a higher proportion of contributing members have more leeway to take on risk and invest in long term projects to gain the illiquidity premium.

In our analysis we obtained information about the active participation in Iceland and Denmark by going through individual annual reports. The data for the Netherlands and Australia was collected through the respective pension supervisory authority for each country, De Nederlandsche Bank and The Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. For a given fund we calculated the ratio of those who are actively contributing to the fund and divided by the number of total pension fund members. Among the four countries the highest participation rate on average is in Australia. This is consistent with what we observe in the descriptive statistics during the sample years, where the Australian pension funds were the most eager to allocate assets to non-traditional investments.

### 6.2 Econometric methodology

To estimate the relationship between long term interest rates and other factors on the asset allocation of pension funds in alternatives, a couple of things must be considered. Firstly, the four different countries make up different environments in which the pension funds operate. Secondly, over time, different pension funds might be exposed to different economic changes of separate sizes which affect their allocation towards alternative assets. With that in mind, heteroskedasticity is to be expected in the allocation of alternatives which can make the usage of linear model's problematic, since the results become unreliable if the residuals of the regression are not distributed with an equal variance. To confirm our suspicion of the unreliability of a linear model, a simple OLS regression was conducted, and the residuals collected. From there we conducted an Breusch-Pagan test which gave an p-value less than 0,05. That means we were able to reject the null hypothesis of homoscedasticity and conclude that the residuals were, indeed, heteroskedastic. In addition to that, an auto correlation function, ACF, was plotted of the residuals which showed that they contained serial correlation as well. The linear estimation and graphs related to this result can be found in the appendix. Moving forward, other methods than OLS had to be considered, starting with Fixed effects.

### 6.2.1 Fixed effects estimation

According to Wooldridge (2010), due to simplicity in calculation, interpretation and understanding, fixed effects models is the most widely used panel data regression method. Fixed effects estimation clears out time invariant factors for individual data points, i's, which in our analysis are pension funds. By doing so, the estimation reduces the omitted variable bias that might be caused by things like the environment, or legislation as the funds operate in the different countries. The fixed effect estimator with two explanatory variables can be written as:

$$y_{it} = \beta_1 x_{it} + \beta_2 x_{it} + \alpha_i + \delta_t + u_{it}$$
(9)

Where  $\alpha_i$  is a time invariant factor, often labelled as individual effects and  $\delta_t$  is a time variant factor, labelled as time effects. By using the time effect coefficient, controls can be enforced on macro-economic trends which affect the data points. Lastly, the idiosyncratic error is labelled as  $u_{it}$ .

When controlling for time effects two methods can be used, either dummy variables can be set for each period (years, months etc.) or through a de-meaning calculating process. The latter method is a regression in deviations from the entities (pension funds) mean so it does not include the individual effects,  $\alpha_i$ . It starts by calculating averages across time for all i's in the following equation which are then subtracted from the original equation 9.

$$\bar{y}_i = \beta_1 \bar{x}_i + \beta_2 \bar{x}_i + \alpha_i + \bar{\partial} + \bar{u}_i \tag{10}$$

The individual effects,  $\alpha_i$ , are time invariant and therefore remain constant over time after averaging. Values denoted with bar, are average values. When equation 9 is subtracted from 10 we obtain:

$$y_{it} - \bar{y}_i = (x_{it} - \bar{x}_i) + \beta_2 (x_{it} - \bar{x}_i) + \delta_t - \delta + u_{it} - \bar{u}_i$$
(11)  
$$\dot{y} = \beta_1 \dot{x}_{it} + \beta_2 \dot{x}_{it} + \dot{\delta}_t + \dot{u}_{it}$$

The time demeaned estimation is now complete which makes it is now possible to calculate the within estimators by using regular ordinary least squares methods.

In total, five assumptions are required for an unbiased and consistent estimate when using fixed effects. Firstly, an unobserved effect must be present, whether that is individual effects, time effects or both. This can be tested for, after conducting the first stage of a fixed effect estimation which includes no individual nor time effects. A Lagrange multiplier test (Breusch-Pagan) is then conducted. The results of the tests had p-values below 0.05, meaning that both time and individual effects were present. The second assumption is a random sample from the cross section, which is hard to fulfill.

Thirdly, no perfect multicollinearity in the explanatory variables, along with them having some variability. In our case, a variable which has perfect multicollinearity becomes omitted, in the statistical program R where the analysis is conducted. The fourth assumption assumes homoscedastic explanatory variables and unobserved effects. Since tests showed heteroskedasticity to be present robust standard were used. The method of choice was used with intuition from Petersen (2009), where clustering of standard errors around pension funds was used to correct for heteroskedasticity.

The fifth and last assumption assumes no autocorrelation in the idiosyncratic error term over time, based on the unobserved effect and explanatory variables. If these assumptions are fulfilled the FE estimators is unbiased, consistent and the best linear estimator of the explanatory variables. It is very likely in our example that the unobserved effect is correlated among years since effects like legislation impacts asset allocation for more than one year. To eliminate or at least largely reduce this magnitude of autocorrelation we include time dummies. By doing so, correlation is transferred to the given year, which otherwise would end up in the error term.

We decided to use the plm or fixest package in R, which adjusts the fixed effect regression for an unbalanced dataset by reducing the degrees of freedom from 11 to 7. This affects how the demeaning process is conducted on the data from Denmark as data from 2010-2014 is unavailable, for reasons mentioned before. That means for the Danish data, the average is calculated for less years, compared to the other countries.

### 6.2.2 Random effects and the Hausmann test

The fixed effects estimator is not the most efficient if we believe the unobserved effects from before are not correlated with our explanatory variables, if so, a random effects estimator should be used instead. This model is similar to the fixed effects model, but it adds an intercept that allows the mean of the unobserved effects to equal 0. In general terms the Random effects can be written as:

$$y_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_{it1} + \dots + \beta_k x_{itk} + \alpha_i + u_{it}$$
(12)

Since the unobserved effects is not removed, it can possibly be included in a composite residual term,  $e_i$ , which then clearly has serial correlation. To remove the autocorrelation, transformation is needed. First the correlation is filtered out by a parameter:

$$\varphi = 1 - \left(\frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 + T\sigma_a^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(13)

Once the original equation is transformed, it becomes a half time-demeaned equation:

$$y_{it} - \varphi \bar{y}_i = \beta_o (1 - \varphi) + \beta_1 (x_{it1} - \varphi \bar{x}_{i1}) + \dots + \beta_k (x_{itk} - \varphi \bar{x}_i) + (e_{it} - \varphi e_i)$$
(14)

The values of  $\varphi$  varies from 0 to 1. When it equals 1, which it never does, it becomes a fixed effect estimation. Usually, the estimate will be close to one. When it is zero, the regression equals a pooled OLS. By using the half time-demeaned estimation constant factors are included which hold no bias.

One thing to note when deciding whether to use Fixed effects or Random effects is that the RE estimation assumes that  $\alpha_i$  is random which is not the case for our study, as within each country, different pension funds have structural nonrandom differences. In FE estimation, the unobserved effect is removed and therefore does not correlate with explanatory variables (Wooldridge, 2012).

A Hausman test can be used to draw conclusions on whether FE or RE are consistent. The null hypothesis states that the Random effect model is consistent, where the alternative hypothesis is that FE is more consistent. The results of the Hausman test confirmed our beliefs, with a p-value below 0.05, meaning that we reject the null hypothesis and conclude that the FE is more consistent.

### 6.2.3 Fixed Effects vs First difference

Lastly, we considered the possibly that first difference estimation method would be better fit than Fixed effects. Wooldridge (2012) states that it can be difficult to choose between FE and first difference, FD, if they give different results.

When T = 2, all test statistics and estimates from both regressions are identical. When T > 3, the FE and FD estimators don't give the same results. Since they are both unbiased under the same criteria, that is for large n or i's and small T, the choice between FE and FD should depend on the efficiency of the estimators. The efficiency is determined by the serial correlation in the error term  $u_{it}$ . Since our regressions is based on more than two periods, the methods result in two different estimates. However, since they are very similar, we decided to move on with the fixed effects estimation. Regression results of FD can be found in the appendix.

#### **6.3 Summary statistics**

Before proceeding with the analysis, it can be helpful to get a sense of how the data looks like. Table 5 exhibits a statistical overview of the main variables used in the regression.

Variable	Mean	25 <sup>th</sup> percentile	75 <sup>th</sup> percentile	Min	Max	Std. Dev.	Number of funds
Alternatives %	19,9%	12,9%	27,0%	2,2%	42,4%	8,7%	485
Log size Alternatives	7,4	6,2	8,7	1,8	12,0	181%	485
Fixed Income	43,4%	30,0%	55,5%	10,9%	81,7%	15,8%	485
Equity	34,4%	26,2%	42,1%	3,5%	63,9%	11,5%	485
Other	2,3%	0,0%	2,8%	0,0%	12,6%	4,1%	485
Yield	2,6%	0,6%	4,9%	-0,4%	6,4%	2,2%	485
Log fund Size	8,3	7,1	9,5	4,8	13,3	180%	485
Inflation	1,9%	1,2%	2,5%	0,3%	5,4%	1,2%	485
Active	43,0%	23,7%	62,1%	17,7%	71,9%	18,8%	435
Domestic volatility	13,0%	5,7%	18,9%	-9,0%	43,4%	10,5%	485

Table 5: Summary statistics

As for the dependent variable, the funds included in this database allocate on average around one-fifth of their portfolio to alternative assets. They are however not homogenous, and the scale for the 485 observations goes from the Dutch pension fund Stipp, which usually allocated less than 4% of their portfolio to alternatives and a minimum of 2,2% in 2013 to the Danish PKA-

Sygeplejerske fund which invested around 40% during the years we look at. Since the funds are of such different sizes, we chose to include the natural logarithm of the actual amount invested into alternatives to make the numbers more comparable like mentioned in subchapter 6.2.2. Despite that there is still a large standard deviation of 180%, which is very little compared to the untransformed data (1.850.293%).

Looking at the other asset classes, fixed income is on average the biggest one with 43% of the funds' assets invested in bonds followed by equity with an average value of around 35%. These two asset classes vary however greatly depending on whether the funds are DB or DC and their average member age.

The interest rates have seen a steady decline in all four countries and the mean value over the sample period is roughly 2,5%. Interestingly, 25% of the sample fall below value of 0,6% and 75% of the observations are below 5%.

# 7. Do lower interest rates increase investments in Alternatives?

We assess the underlying dynamics of the changes in alternative investments by testing effects at the individual fund level, having reviewed and classified previous literature on the increased popularity of alternative investments. A particular focus is given to the variables, which are discussed in chapter 6.2.

### 7.1 Descriptive statistics

Table 6 shows the variation in average asset allocation among all the funds in the sample over time. First thing that we notice is that over the sample period, the fraction of alternatives as a proportion of total assets under management decreased from 21% to 20%, at the same time interest rates decreased. The structure of pension funds varies among countries and thus, it is important to consider whether the same trend is observed in all countries in the sample. Noting that in chapter 2, we already observed variation among countries, where for example fixed income securities increased in The Netherlands. While Denmark and Iceland experienced a decrease. In Table 7 on the next page, the development for each country over the sample period is shown.

Year	Alternatives	Equity	Fixed income	Other	Number of funds
2010	20,36%	34,43%	42,76%	2,46%	37
2011	21,06%	32,83%	43,23%	2,88%	37
2012	21,37%	32,91%	43,48%	2,23%	37
2013	20,00%	35,78%	42,28%	1,94%	37
2014	19,20%	36,17%	42,39%	2,25%	37
2015	18,16%	34,54%	44,62%	2,68%	50
2016	18,69%	33,54%	45,25%	2,51%	50
2017	19,50%	34,53%	44,05%	1,92%	50
2018	20,28%	33,41%	44,21%	2,21%	50
2019	20,69%	34,98%	42,18%	2,16%	50
2020	19,98%	35,60%	42,00%	2,43%	50

Table 6:	Descriptive	statistics
----------	-------------	------------

Year					
	Alternatives	Equity	Fixed Income	Other	Funds
Australia					
2010	23,54%	47,45%	24,27%	4,74%	13
2011	23,60%	48,11%	23,98%	4,31%	13
2012	25,74%	45,70%	24,57%	4,00%	13
2013	25,07%	48,40%	22,68%	3,85%	13
2014	23,32%	48,78%	24,13%	3,77%	13
2015	24,47%	48,73%	23,43%	3,37%	13
2016	25,23%	45,81%	25,15%	3,82%	13
2017	25,09%	47,35%	25,00%	2,56%	13
2018	25,90%	47,81%	23,70%	2,58%	13
2019	26,78%	46,55%	24,52%	2,14%	13
2020	26,09%	44,46%	26,79%	2,66%	13
11-year average	24,99%	47,20%	24,38%	3,44%	
Denmark	,	,	,	,	
2015	15,13%	26.00%	54.02%	4.85%	13
2016	16.03%	24 70%	54 52%	4 74%	13
2017	17.63%	26.23%	51 73%	4 40%	13
2018	19.18%	24,23%	51,97%	4 12%	13
2010	19 10%	26.68%	50.08%	4 13%	13
2020	18 71%	26,00%	49 62%	4 96%	13
6-year average	17.63%	25,84%	51 99%	4 53%	10
Iceland	17,0570	23,0170	51,5570	1,5570	
2010	20.37%	23 74%	54 11%	1 78%	11
2010	20,37%	20,74%	54 21%	1,7070	11
2011	23,2170	20,70%	53 04%	1,8270	11
2012	10.83%	25,2770	52 70%	0.72%	11
2013	19,0370	20,75%	50,08%	0,7270	11
2014	18 7204	27,98%	J0,0870	1,60%	11
2015	10,72%	32,20%	47,51%	1,09%	11
2010	19,09%	31,17% 21.02%	46,40%	0,48%	11
2017	21,50%	31,92%	40,31%	0,20%	11
2018	22,47%	32,12%	44,95%	0,45%	11
2019	23,51%	36,15%	40,02%	0,32%	11
2020	21,68%	41,40%	36,79%	0,13%	11
<u> </u>	21,38%	29,78%	48,00%	0,85%	
The Netherlands	17 170/	20.440/	51 6204	0.75%	10
2010	17,17%	30,44%	51,63%	0,75%	13
2011	16,70%	27,77%	53,19%	2,34%	13
2012	15,96%	28,28%	54,30%	1,45%	13
2013	15,08%	30,79%	53,07%	1,06%	13
2014	13,33%	30,48%	54,13%	2,05%	13
2015	14,39%	30,81%	54,12%	0,67%	13
2016	13,82%	32,12%	53,37%	0,69%	13
2017	14,02%	32,23%	53,50%	0,25%	13
2018	13,89%	28,79%	56,33%	0,98%	13
2019	13,79%	30,70%	53,77%	1,75%	13
2020	13,69%	30,72%	53,98%	1,62%	13
11-year average	14,71%	30,29%	53,76%	1,24%	
Total	19,87%	34,43%	43,38%	2,32%	485

Table 7: Descriptive statistics for each country

Even though the proportion of alternative assets in the sample has decreased, table 7 shows that most of the countries have increased their exposure to this particular asset type over the last decade. Australian and Icelandic pension funds allocated roughly 1,5% more to non-traditional assets in 2020 compared to 2010. In Denmark, the increase was around 2,5% for the period 2015-2020. The only country investing less on average in alternatives was the Netherlands with a hefty drop of 5%.

When looking at the trends in other asset classes there is evidence that alongside the drop in interest rates Icelandic and Danish pension funds have been shifting away from fixed income investments into riskier asset such as equity and alternatives. At the same time the Dutch pension funds have gone the other way around and invested about 5% more in fixed income in the year 2020 compared to the begin of the sample period. That supports the hypothesis that funds operating under different schemes respond differently to the lower interest rate environment. With the possible culprit being the negative duration gap. As mentioned before, one way to reduce the negative duration gap is to purchase bonds with long maturity. This is exactly what we see in the descriptive data as the Netherlands, where all funds operate under a DB plan, have steadily increased their hold in bonds mostly at the cost of alternatives.



Figure 13: Alternative assets as a fraction of total assets across funds. Source: Annual reports and own calculations

A plot of different funds and their share of alternatives can be seen in figure 13. The different funds are on the x-axis and the fraction of alternatives is on the y-axis. For each fund, a few data points can be seen which represent the percentage for the given year.

The red line shows the average for each fund over the 11-year period. From the figure, specifying the difference across years is not possible so a second visualization is needed.



Figure 14: Alternative assets as a fraction of total assets over time. Source: Annual reports and own calculations

Figure 14 shows the variation in alternatives over time, where each dot on the x-axis represents different funds. As before the red line is the sample mean for percentage of alternatives for each year. We observe that the mean increases from 2010-2012, then decreases from 2012 to 2015 and increases again from 2015-2019 until decreasing in 2020.

### 7.2 Regressions

Following the descriptive analysis, we present our empirical results. Starting with our baseline model, we examine the effects of interest rates on asset allocation, investment diversification behavior, the size of the funds, type, and active members. Furthermore, we extend the same model to include alternatives in levels, or log-levels. This is to verify prior results when the portfolio is investigated in percentages. Since other factors on the balance sheet can directly impact the percentage held in alternatives. For example, large increases in the market value of equity can make it seem that alternatives are decreasing as a percentage in the portfolio, where they possibly remain the same or just growing at a slower pace than the equity.

As a final step, we compare the baseline model with an alternative model based on lagged interest rates. Possibly underlining the importance of investment policies.

Since they are determined before the start of each year, where specific weights are assigned to each asset category based upon a certain percentage range.

#### 7.2.1 Baseline model: Alternatives in %

First off, we use a Fixed Effect Model as described in section 6.2.1 while gradually increasing the number of variables. In all regressions, we control for individual and time fixed effects to account for time-variant and time-invariant characteristics that may influence allocations to alternatives in a pension fund at a specific time. In accordance with the theoretical model presented in part 6.2.1, we estimate the following regression:

$$Alternatives_{it} = \beta_1 Yield_{it} + \beta_2 Complex_{it} + \beta_3 Size_{it} + \beta_4 DB_{it}$$
(14)  
+  $\beta_5 Volatility_{it} + \beta_6 Active_{it} + \alpha_i + \partial_t + u_{it}$ 

Here, i represents the individual pension funds that operate in different countries, while t is an indicator of time. The dependent variable Alternatives<sub>it</sub> is the proportion of the portfolio held in alternative assets. Long term nominal interest rates in each country are Yield<sub>it</sub> in each country where the pension fund operates. Complex<sub>it</sub> is a dummy variable that represents pension funds that invest less than 60% of their portfolios in one asset class. The Size<sub>it</sub> is the natural logarithm of the pension fund's total assets in millions of euros in each country. Volatility on domestic equity markets in each country is Volatility<sub>it</sub>. DB<sub>it</sub> is a dummy variable used to represent funds with more than 60% of assets in a defined benefit plan. The number of active members divided by the number of inactive members across the different funds is represented by Active<sub>it</sub>. The fund fixed effects are  $\alpha_i$  and  $\delta_t$  are time effects, followed by the idiosyncratic error  $u_{it}$ .

In table 8, we present the results of our baseline model using all 50 funds over an 11-year period. We highlight the specifications of each regression in the bottom part of the table. Model 1 in table 8 shows the results for a regression of yields on the percentage of alternatives. As predicted, the coefficient is negative, suggesting that lower interest rates lead to the funds holding a higher percentage of alternatives. However, it is not significant.

To increase the explanatory power of the model, extra variables are added to model 2. We will begin by incorporating the complex variable, which has a positive sign and is highly significant. As we expected, funds that exhibit a higher degree of risk diversification should hold more alternatives in their portfolios. This has often been mentioned as one of the primary reasons to invest in the asset class. The size coefficient is positive, and significant which does not come as a surprise, given the high significance of the coefficient in Defau and De Moor (2020). The lower significance level in our model, compared to prior research may be since we are unable to distinguish between the different alternative asset classes. Alternatives are as numerous as they are diverse, and that also applies to costs relating to the investments. With the argument being that larger funds can incur more costs related to the investments such as management fee and cost related to obtaining information. Therefore, they can invest more.

Model 3 of table 8 also adds the defined benefit variable. In line with our expectations, defined benefit funds hold less alternatives in their portfolio on average. Secondly, domestic volatility in local equity markets is incorporated, a negative, but insignificant effect. The volatility of equity markets has two effects, firstly when volatility increases, pension funds might become more risk averse and look to other assets (possibly alternatives). Secondly, depending on how the volatility is constructed, meaning that if it only comes from differences in positive returns, such changes affect the percentage allocation of alternatives funds negatively. That is, given that other asset classes in the balance sheet of individual funds grows less.

Lastly model 5, includes the active members variable, which is positive and significant, meaning that funds with a higher fraction of active members invest more in alternatives. Unfortunately, the DB variable drops out to multicollinearity so models 4 and 5 are kept separate.

Alternatives %	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Yield <sub>t</sub>	-0,3583 (0,5828)	-0,3064 (0,5605)	-0,3489 (0,5626)	-0,3362 (0,5608)	-0,4068 (0,4345)
Complex		0,0262**	0,0239**	0,0237**	0,0246*** (0,0098)
Size(log)		0,0234**	0,0237**	0,0241**	0,0182*
Size(log)		(0,0107)	-0,0724***	-0,0737***	(0,110)
DB			-0,0205	(0,0092)	
Domestic volatility			(0,0181)		0,2936*
Active					(0,1425)
Fixed effects					
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,75377	0,76718	0,77125	0,7704	0,7722
Observations	485	485	485	485	443

Table 8: Baseline model using percentage of alternatives as a dependent variable

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively

In table 9 we analyze what happens when substituting the percentage of alternatives for its size. Due to the large size differences among funds, we opted to use the natural logarithm to reduce heteroskedasticity. Previously, in the baseline model we noticed that as interest rates are lower, the allocation as a percentage of total portfolio increases with a non-significant effect. This raises the question of how the actual size changes with interest rates. Therefore, we want to verify that the percentage increase is not explained by a reduction of other categories, meaning that when interest rate decline, alternatives are both increasing as a percentage of portfolio allocation and in actual amounts. If the other asset categories are growing faster than alternatives, alternatives can increase over time, while decreasing as a percentage of the total asset allocation of funds. One thing to note here is that we are unable to tell the story of how alternatives are increasing as the value increase/decrease comes both from investments and returns.

Log size of alternatives	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Yieldt	6,218 (3,812)	-0,5927 (3,075)	-1,061 (3,097)	-0,9367 (3,048)	-0,1756 (3,359)
Complex		0,1738** (0,0719)	0,1523** (0,0705)	0,1514** (0,0696)	0,1610** (0,0684)
Size(log)		1,092*** (0,1919)	1,109*** (0,1912)	1,110*** (0,1922)	1,166*** (0,1950)
DB			-0,6397*** (0.0611)	-0,6427*** (0.0592)	
Domestic volatility			-0,0418 (0,1030)	(*,*** _)	
Active					1,672** (0,7483)
Fixed effects					
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	by: Fund	by: Fund	by: Fund	by: Fund	by: Fund
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,79584	0,80827	0,80886	0,80886	0,80978
Observations	485	485	485	485	443

Table 9: Baseline model 2 using log size of alternatives as a dependent variable

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

We start by simply regressing alternatives on yield. In contrast to the benchmark model in table 8 above, the coefficient is now positive, but not significant. The model fails to estimate the relationship due to few variables, so we move on.

As before, we add explanatory variables to the regression in model 2,3,4 and 5. The coefficient for yield is now negative and insignificant. The coefficient for complex investors, Size, DB, Active and domestic volatility have not changed in significance and sign compared to the baseline model. Log size increased in significance, which is not very surprising given that the size of the fund determines the alternative size.

#### 7.2.2 Model with last year's interest rate

As discussed in the previous section, interest rates do not appear to have an important impact on the allocation of resources to alternatives at first glance. However, since the results are quite unexpected, we believe something else is responsible for these results. As we discussed in relation to alternative assets in chapter 3, this is a large asset class with many different options, each of which is unique. Despite this, almost all of them have one thing in common. They are either illiquid or extremely illiquid. As a result, it can be argued that trading of these assets should be infrequent due to their illiquidity, as investors must hold them to gain the illiquidity premium. Thus, a passive investment strategy should be more compatible. Since, in general, illiquid assets, which are traded before full maturity or possibly earlier, might have prices well below the expected maturity value and can even accrue losses. As we mentioned before, like in the case of private equity, the returns are often described by the J-curve. Meaning that for the first years of the investment, returns after costs can be negative due to institutional and management fees. Also, transactions costs can be high, making early sales, for example with real estate, potentially incur losses.

One might question how this can be accounted for in the model. In our opinion, the answer may lie in the strategic asset allocation of the funds, which is predetermined at the beginning of each year. When estimating future allocations, the funds must consider future investment returns, while also pay attention to liquidity and the age of the members of the fund. As more and more people approach retirement age, the risk should be reduced due to how soon benefits will begin to flow from the fund. This is easier for DC funds, since they can split their members different investment pots, whereas DB pools members. With that being said, it is probable that when the fund makes such estimates, they recognize past interest rates, as well as projected interest rates in the future. It therefore makes intuitive sense to examine the yield of the prior year, since when fund managers/board members construct their proposed allocation for next year, it will play a significant role.

Results of the alternative model are provided in table 10, with the same variables as before, excluding yield, which has been lagged one year.

Alternative	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
assets %	-0.4434	-0.8816*	-0.8867*	-0.95/1/**	_0 9920**
Yield <sub>t-1</sub>	(0,5857)	(0,4712)	(0,4796)	(0,4597)	(0,4579)
Complex		0,0244**	0,0221**	0,0215**	0,0228**
complex		(0,0095)	(0,0094)	(0,0094)	(0,0059)
Size(log)		0,0240**	0,0247**	0,0249**	0,0194*
		(0,0102)	-0.0726***	-0.0747***	(0,0107)
DB			(0,089)	(0,0089)	
Domestic			-0,0156		
volatility			(0,0184)		
Active					0,2828**
Fixed offects					(0,1427)
Fixed effects					
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,75389	0,77190	0,77560	0,77511	0,77557
Observations	485	485	485	485	443

Table 10: Alternative model using alternative assets as percentage a dependent variable

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

When compared with the baseline model, most of the variables have the same significance and sign. Yet, the variable of interest, yield, becomes significant when last year's interest rates are considered. Confirming our suspicion of the relationship between passive investment strategies and the strategic asset allocation. Meaning that, prior interest rates affect the strategic asset allocation, which then impacts the actual allocation. As investing in alternative investments is generally a lengthy and complicated process, most often with high trading costs, it can be stated that investment opportunities in alternative investments are located, if the asset allocation strategy suggests it, and then executed. Since active trading is uncommon, the unlagged yield variable is unable to catch the effects of lower interest rates, as decision regarding alternatives is primarily based on long-term planning. That means for periods in which the interest rate is going up, which it does in some cases, the funds do not react by selling. Surely this can be very different among funds but looking at the standard errors of two models, a pattern emerges. Where the standard errors of yield are higher than of yield<sub>t-1</sub>.

This indicates that reactions to yearly changes in interest rates show a greater degree of variability, and that funds who have already invested in an alternative asset might not sell it if interest rates rise, as theory predicts.

Like before, we explore how the model responds when changing the dependent variable from alternatives as a percentage to its log size. In table 11 the results from that regression are shown. The coefficient for the lagged value of yield is significant and negative, indicating that alternatives increase in size on average as last year's interest rates decline. This further strengthens our hypothesis that alternatives are passive investments. As for other variables, not much has changed in principle.

Log size of alternatives	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Viald	8,396*	-6,489**	-6,792**	-6,830**	-7,491**
r leid <sub>t-1</sub>	(4,478)	(2,857)	Model 3         Model 4           -6,792**         -6,830**           (2,852)         (2,824)           0,1534**         0,1530***           (0,0722)         (0,0714)           0,2820***         0,2848***           (0,0822)         (0,0867)           -0,6545***         -0,6564***           (0,0617)         (0,0591)           -0,0229         (0,1023)           Yes         Yes           Yes         Yes           Ses         Yes           9: Fund         By: Fund           0,80032         0,80020           485         485	(2,821)	
Complex		0,1760**	0,1534**	0,1530***	0,1635*
complex		(0,0738)	(0,0722)	(0,0714)	(0,0707)
Size(log)		0,2790***	0,2820***	0,2848***	0,2736***
		(0,0863)	(0,0822)	(0,0867)	(0,0868)
DB			-0,0545	-0,0504	
Domestic			-0.0229	(0,0391)	
volatility			(0.1023)		
			(0,1020)		1.683**
Active					(0,7226)
Fixed effects					
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	0,79655	0,79982	0,80032	0,80020	0,80023
Observations	485	485	485	485	443

Table 11: Alternative model using log size of alternatives as a dependent variable

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

## 7.2.3 Do Dutch funds affect the results?

The descriptive statistics in chapter 7.1 showed that over time, funds in The Netherlands allocated less to alternatives over the 11-years, while the other three countries increased their allocation. It is quite interesting to investigate whether the possible decrease in the Netherlands may cancel out the increase in other countries when interest rates decrease. If such scenario is the case, one would expect different results from the regression when dropping the Netherlands from

the sample. The following regressions in table 12 show the baseline and alternative model with the full sample and then without the Netherlands, first with long term interest rates and then lagged long term interest rates.

Alternative assets %	(1) All countries	(2) All countries	(3) Restricted sample	(4) Restricted sample
Yieldt	-0,3362 (0,5608)	-0,4068 (0,4345)	-0,4374 (0,666)	-0,6235 (0,6992)
Complex	0,0237*** (0,0097)	0,0246** (0,0098)	0,0226* (0,0125)	0,0270* (0,0145)
Size(log)	0,0241*** (0,0107)	0,0182* (0,0110)	0,0291** (0,0132)	0,0258** (0,0136)
DB	-0,0737*** (0,0092)		-0,0708*** (0,0107)	
Active		0,2936** (0,1425)		0,1996** (0,0807)
Fixed effects				
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	by: Fund	by: Fund	by: Fund	by: Fund
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,77048 0,77223		0,70388	0,67571
Observations	485	443	342	300
Alternative assets %	(1) All countries	(2) All countries	(3) Restricted sample	(4) Restricted sample
Yield <sub>t-1</sub>	-0,9544** (0,4597)	-0,9920** (0,457)	-1,119** (0,4296)	-1,211*** (0,4366)
Complex	0,0215** (0,0094)	0,0228** (0,0059)	0,0223* (0,0124)	0,0270* (0,0143)
Size(log)	0,0249** (0,0102)	0,0194* (0,0107)	0,0292** (0,0124)	0,0268** (0,0128)
DB	-0,0747*** (0,0089)		-0,0714*** (0,0104)	
Active		0,2828** (0,1427)		0,1933** (0,0795)
Fixed effects				
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,77519	0,77557	0,70756	0,67996
Observations	485	443	342	300

Table 12: Baseline model regression excluding the Netherlands

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

First thing that we observe is that the Yield coefficient becomes more negative when excluding data from The Netherlands, but the standard errors rise as well. Meaning that, the effect of lower interest rates on allocation towards alternatives increases, but also how the funds react (higher variation). The coefficient for yield is still insignificant.

The increased negativity is to be expected since DC funds have higher flexibility in investments when interest rates are lower and most of the DB datapoints in the sample were removed (143 out of 204).

The Complex coefficient loses some significance and drops in overall value. We believe the reason to be that many of the Dutch funds increased their holdings in fixed income above 60% while interest rates went down. For example, ING (Dutch pension fund) went from 55% in 2011 to 63% in 2013 and 76% in 2020. This makes the model define them as a non-complex investor

The second part of the table includes the lagged yield and as before, the coefficient for last year's yield becomes more negative. However, now the standard errors decrease, instead of increasing like before. The significance level mostly stays the same among the variables. The DB variable remains significant, pointing towards that DB funds outside The Netherlands are also allocating less to Alternatives on average compared to DC funds. We believe this confirms our belief that DC pension funds have a greater flexibility to adapt to changes in interest rates and allocate more to alternatives when interest rates are lower compared to DB schemes.

#### 7.2.4 Some insight on the policy allocation

To give some insight on the policy allocation, we take a closer look at the investment policy of two funds. One from Iceland (LIVE) and another from the Netherlands (BPL).

When formulating its investment policy, LIVE looks at how to improve the interplay between return and the risk of its portfolio by using a strategic asset allocation. That is performed by considering pension obligations, legal restrictions, and investment opportunities. Similarly, the fund analyzes what returns and risks can be expected from the major asset classes, as well as assumptions about the relationship between asset class returns. As a result, the fund's assets are sufficiently diversified to prevent undesirable concentration and accumulation of risk in its portfolio. The fund states that asset management can be passive or active. Where passive management seeks to achieve market returns, while active management seeks to deliver returns higher than the benchmark (market). Passive management is applied when investments are regarded as long term and the frequency of transactions is limited within a portfolio, which in return, result in lower transaction costs. Whereas active management provides an opportunity to achieve returns in excess of the market's average return, considering costs and risks. The frequency of trading in active management varies depending on the nature of the asset class in which the

investment is made. Private debt, a type of alternative, is an example where passive management is used, while active management is rather applied to asset classes such as listed equities. Whether the management is passive or active, there is always a certain criteria that must be met in terms of expected returns, standard deviation, covariances, and the development of the fund's pension liabilities, which must be weighed and assessed (LIVE, 2021).

The investment policy of BPL describes how the policy allocation is computed after an asset liability management (ALM) study is completed. Using a variety of different scenarios, the ALM calculates how the fund's financial position is likely to evolve over time. As a long-term investor, BPL mentions that it invests for the long term, rather than attempting to beat the market in the short term. Their point is that success should not be compared to the performance of financial markets in the short term. Additionally, they point out that their investments in alternatives are ideal for a passive investment strategy, since they are illiquid, resulting in higher expected returns (BplPensioen, 2017).

Unfortunately, neither Danish nor Australian funds offer any insights into their active or passive investment strategies when it comes to alternatives. But to get some idea on the intuition the following quote can be found on Australian Super website regarding investments, which strongly suggests that alternatives are managed passively.

The longer-term investment outlook for unlisted assets is aligned with the long-term nature of superannuation funds. Unlisted infrastructure, property and private equity investments are generally held for the long-term. This helps asset owners and government bodies to make decisions to improve the long-term value of unlisted assets. In contrast, listed boards can sometimes be pressured into making shorter term decisions – to meet shareholder expectations – which can affect long-term value. (AustralianSuper, 2021, page. 2)

### 7.3 Robustness checks

#### 7.3.1 Possible endogeneity

To assess the robustness of the findings, a series of tests are conducted. There are roughly three categories of potential problems that could influence the validity of our results. First, there may be issues related to endogeneity at any given point in time. If at any time t, where the independent variables are correlated with the idiosyncratic error term, the model will suffer from omitted variable bias. Second is intertemporal endogeneity, which can also skew the results if any of the

independent variables at a particular time point, say  $t_{+3}$ , are correlated with the idiosyncratic error term. In that case the assumption of strict exogeneity of the independent variables will be false, making the fixed effects estimate incoherent. Lastly there are potential problems related to sampling. If the results are highly dependent on the inclusion of a subset of the sample, for example one country with a large variation within a given variable, the results will be of little value.

One way to reduce the effects of endogeneity is to use fixed effects, but it is nevertheless useful to check whether our results are robust and our assumptions of exogeneity holds. One method to do that is to add additional variables to the model and test whether these variables change our findings. If the results end up being the same as before, we can assume that endogeneity is not a problem.

Factors affecting long term nominal interest rates is easily something that can be the focus of another thesis. Generally, real long-term interest rates tend to move together in different countries due to the existence of global financial markets. However, nominal long-term rates reflect inflationary expectations in individual economies, which in turn reflect the credibility of national monetary policy. Exchange rate expectations are closely related to inflationary expectations; however, exchange rate movements can also occur for reasons unrelated to inflation differentials. Therefore, it is not straightforward to determine how changes in short-term interest rate affect long-term rates. An increase in short-term rates can lead to, or coincide with, an increase in long-term rates, but the long-term rates can also decline if the markets are convinced that future inflation has been prevented (European Parliament, 2001).

Since higher inflation expectations lead to higher nominal interest rates, one would expect that as the expectations of future and current inflation gets higher, the yield gets higher, and allocation to alternatives decreases. By ignoring this variable, we run the risk of it being included in the error term and biasing our estimates of market interest rates. Because this data is based on inflation forecasts there is still a possibility of some measurement errors, so to see if we get similar results, we test normal inflation as well. Data was therefore collected from OECD for inflation and forecasted inflation for the 11-year period.

Secondly, we considered changes in the risk premium of the 10-year yields. Based on Ferri, Liu, and Majnoni (2000), we estimate crudely the risk premium from S&P sovereign debt credit and include it as an explanatory variable in the regressions. As a higher credit rating lowers the likelihood of defaulting on debt, it should lead to lower risk premia and lower interest rates.

Lastly, we consider the active variable as countries with older populations will likely have a lower number of active participations. Even though the percentage of active members differs between funds, we decided to include the dependency ratio of each country, which gives insight to the ratio of working-age to non-working age people. Because the age distribution may vary among the countries in which the funds operate, it can affect the percentage of active members.

Alternative	Original	Robustness	Robustness	Robustness	Original	Robustness
assets %	Model	check (1)	check (2)	check (3)	model (2)	check (4)
	-0,3362	-0,4829	-0,5519	-0,5509	-0,4068	-0,5664
Yieldt	(0,5608)	(0,5288)	(0,5153)	(0,5165)	(0,4345)	(0,5986)
	0,0237***	0,0215***	0,0214**	0,0212**	0,0262**	0,02386**
Complex	(0,0097)	(0,0093)	(0,0092)	(0,0090)	(0,0062)	(0,00102)
	0,0241***	0,0235***	0,0236***	0,0234***	0,0182**	0,0151*
Size(log)	(0,0107)	(0,0105)	(0,0106)	(0,0105)	(0,0110)	(0,0110)
	-0,0737***	-0,0739***	-0,0741***	-0,0744***		
DB	(0,00568)	(0,0089)	(0,0088)	(0,0097)		
Inflation		-0,6533**				
forecast		(0,2991)				
<b>T</b> ( <b>1</b> )			-0,7386**	-0,7272**		
Inflation			(0,3503)	(0,3295)		
				0,0005		
Credit rating				(0,0009)		1 290
Denendenes						-1,289
Dependency					0.2026**	(1,100)
Activo					(0.0850)	(0.1121)
Active					(0,0839)	(0,1121)
Fixed effects						
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clusters	Bv: Fund	Bv: Fund	Bv: Fund	Bv: Fund	Bv: Fund	Bv: Fund
S.E. Clustered	29.14.14	29.14.14	29.10110	29.10.00	29.14.14	29.14.14
R <sup>2</sup>	0,77048	0,77371	0,77396	0,77396	0,77394	0,77556
Observations	485	485	485	485	435	435

Table 13 13 Robustness check for current yield

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

The results for the baseline model are shown in table 13, followed by models where variables are added to see if we have any omitted variable bias in the yield. We observe that the coefficient for yield is increasing, and almost doubles when actual inflation is included. In addition to that, the standard errors decrease, but the yield is still very far from being significant. Pointing to the fact that there does not seem to be a problem of omitted bias related to the yield. Same goes for the active variable, where the coefficient gets smaller, standard errors increase, but there is no change in significance.
Alternative	Original	Robustness	Robustness	Robustness	Original	Robustness
assets %	Model	check (1)	check (2)	check (3)	model	check (4)
V: 14	-0,9544**	-0,9096*	-0,9938**	-0,9916**	-0,9920**	-1,054*
r ield <sub>t-1</sub>	(0,4597)	(0,4599)	(0,3723)	(0,3320)	(0,457)	(0,5642)
	0,0215**	0,0220**	0,0214**	0,0230**	0,0228**	0,0245**
Complex	(0,0094)	(0,0093)	(0,0090)	(0,0087)	(0,0059)	(0,0104)
	0,0249**	0,0214**	0,0230**	0,0230**	0,0194*	0,0168*
Size(log)	(0,0102)	(0,0055)	(0,0056)	(0,0056)	(0,0107)	(0,0106)
	-0,0747***	-0,0736***	-0,0755***	-0,0755***		
DB	(0,0089)	(0,0089)	(0,0089)	(0,0089)		
Inflation		-0,1595				
forecast <sub>t-1</sub>		(0,7438)				
			-0,7808**	-0,7462**		
Inflation <sub>t-1</sub>			(0,370)	(0.3570)		
				0,0003		
Credit rating <sub>t-1</sub>				(0,0009)		
•						-1,547
Dependency						(1,188)
					0,2828**	0.2378*
Active					(0,1427)	(0,134)
Fixed effects						
Fund	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
S.E. Clustered	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund	By: Fund
- 2	0 77519	0 77552			·	• • • • • • • •
$\mathbf{R}^2$	0,77519	0,11552	0,772166	0,77550	0,77557	0,77772
Observations	485	485	485	485	435	435

Table 14 14 Robustness check for lagged yield

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

In table 14 we see the results of the alternative model, where the forecasted inflation did not impact other variables, but slightly decreased the coefficient for the yield from last year. Since yields have now been lagged the inflation forecast follows, to match the analysis. Next up is the inflation of last year, which increases the lagged yield coefficient slightly and reduces the standard errors. However other changes are very small and significance levels stay the same. By adding the credit rating variable from last year, the standard errors change slightly, and the magnitudes are almost the same. Lastly, by adding the dependency ratio, the standard errors decrease slightly while the coefficient also decreases, but it remains significant at the 10% level.

Therefore, we conclude that the model does not have any, or very limited omitted variable bias.

#### 7.3.2 Sample size robustness

Next, we test the robustness of the sample too see if the results are different with certain sample restrictions. In figure 13 from chapter 7.1, where the share of alternatives is plotted across different funds, we noticed that there was a lot of variability in the allocation among funds, with some close to 45% and others less than 5%.

The intuition is that by removing the pension funds with the highest and lowest allocation to alternatives, we can determine if this trend of increasing alternatives in lower interest rates prevails in more widespread sense. Pension funds that allocate a small fraction to alternatives over the period might for example have different investment preferences with regard to risk than those who allocate somewhere in the mean of the sample (19,87%). It works the other way around as funds with higher risk preferences may increase the share of alternatives as interest rates fall. Further, it could be the case that funds that allocate less to alternatives are experiencing liquidity strains. Therefore, they are unable to increase their investments in that category. Same goes for funds that already have a large fraction (over 40%) of their portfolio, where raising the percentage would have implications on liquidity.

Figure 15 shows the different sample sizes under restriction. Across the full sample, there are tails on both sides of the allocation distribution, with some funds allocating over 45% and some less than 5% to alternatives as noted before. The first restriction is based on 90% of the total sample with the top 5% and bottom 5% omitted, seen in the middle. The second sample constraint is based on 80% of the original sample with 10% on each side removed. Table 15 summarizes the findings, with the first two columns containing the original model, and the rest with restrictions.



Figure 15 15 Sample size robustness check

Alternative	Baseline	Baseline	90% (1)	90%(2)	80% (1)	80% (2)
assets %	model (1)	model (2)	9070 (I)	<i>J</i> 0 <i>7</i> 0 ( <i>2</i> )	0070 (1)	0070 (2)
Yieldt	-0,3362	-0,4068	-0,2810	-0,3668	-0,1634	-0,2913
	(0,5608)	(0,4345)	(0,4619)	(0,4511)	(0,4896)	(0,4788)
Complex	0,0237***	0,0246***	0,0219**	0,0226**	0,0202*	0,02011*
	(0,0097)	(0,0098)	(0,0092)	(0,0094)	(0,0104)	(0,0118)
Size(log)	0,0241***	0,0182*	0,0259	0,0198	0,0275	0,02049
	(0,0107)	(0,110)	(0,0204)	(0,0201)	(0,0223)	(0,0206)
DB	-0,0737***		-0,0774***		-0,0869***	
	(0,0092)		(0,0089)		(0,0109)	
		0,2936**		0,2947**		0,2545**
Active		(0,0859)		(0,1273)		(0,1117)
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,77048	0,77223	0,73244	0,74915	0,74801	0,76911
Observations	485	443	435	399	386	351
Alternative	Baseline	Baseline	90% (1)	90%(2)	80% (1)	80% (2)
assets %	model (1)	model (2)	9070 (I)	J070 (2)	0070 (1)	0070 (2)
Viald	-0,9544**	-0,9920**	-0,8949 *	-0,9487**	-1,180**	-1,194**
Ticiut-1	(0,4597)	(0,457)	(0,4880)	(0,4772)	(0,4448)	(0,4564)
Complex	0,0215**	0,0228**	0,0204**	0,0214**	0,0196*	0,0206*
complex	(0,0094)	(0,0059)	(0,0089)	(0,0093)	(0,0103)	(0,0102)
Size(log)	0,0249**	0,0194*	0,0259	0,0238	0,0270	0,0247
Size(10g)	(0,0102)	(0,0107)	(0,0203)	(0,0201)	(0,0215)	(0,0212)
DB	-0,0747***		-0,0788***		-0,0868***	
	(0,0089)		(0,0086)		(0,0108)	
		0,2828**		0,2944**		0,2516**
Active		(0,1427)		(0,1260)		(0,1148)
R <sup>2</sup>	0,77519	0,77557	0,73697	0,75354	0,75500	0,77494
Observations	485	443	435	399	386	351

Table 15 Sample size robustness check15

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.

Table 15 shows that although the coefficient for yield<sub>t-1</sub> changes somewhat with the whole sample, the broad patterns remain the same. When past yields are lower, pension funds increase their allocation to alternatives. The current yields remain insignificant, with a lower coefficient and a higher standard error. The size variable loses its significance, with the standard errors almost doubling. As predicted by the model, larger funds invest more in alternatives on average. Thus, by removing the largest and smallest funds the variable loses its predictability. This is evident in the standard errors of size, where they almost double when we exclude 10% of the sample, but the change is much less drastic when moving from 90% of the sample to 80%.

#### 7.4 Summary and overview of results

Throughout this chapter we have examined the relationship between interest rates and allocation to alternative assets among pension funds in the world's highest rated pension systems. Using fixed effects estimation for data collected from the annual reports of 50 pension funds, from four countries during the period 2010 to 2020, we demonstrate that lower interest rates lead to an increase in alternative asset allocation, both when it comes to the amount invested but also as a fraction of assets under management. We also demonstrated that depending on the type of occupational scheme, the allocation will differ, meaning funds that guarantee future pension benefits tend to allocate less to alternative assets in lower interest environment. Thirdly, we confirmed the hypothesis that pension funds who take advantage of asset distribution invest more in alternatives. Finally, we showed that when the proportion of active participant who actively contribute to the fund goes up, more is invested in alternatives.

For domestic volatility we are not able to accept the hypothesis that increased volatility on domestic equity markets leads to higher allocation in alternatives. The model estimates that as volatility on global stock prices goes up, pension funds decrease their investments in alternatives, but the coefficient is not significant. One reason might be that pension funds invest in international markets to spread the risk in their portfolio. These investments are intended for a long time and have yielded a generous return over the course of the years. Even though the funds are aware international equities can fluctuate in price they tend to rise over medium to long term horizon. If the volatility can be explained by a positive fluctuation which has been the case for the years covered in this thesis that means, ceteris paribus, other variables in the balance sheet are decreasing as a percentage of the portfolio.

## 8. Discussion

In accordance with our research question, we examined how changes in interest rates affect the investments in alternative assets. We also examined how fund characteristics impact allocations and investments, that is the different size, different member structure and what type of occupational scheme the fund is running. To put our findings into context, in this chapter we outline the implications and changes this can have in the future. Further, we present our findings in light of previous research and discuss the limitations of our study.

## 8.1 Times are changing

In Chapter 7, we have shown that lower interest rates lead to an increase in the allocation of alternatives. Additionally, we observed differences in the allocation, depending on whether the occupational scheme was a DB or DC. With lower allocation percentages towards alternatives in DB. We argue that DB funds have more sensitivity on the pension liability side, and therefore allocate more of its investments into long term bonds, or swaps. The reason is that low interest rates (market rates) increase the present value of future liabilities. Because of low interest rates and increased longevity, many funds in The Netherlands have struggled to maintain their funding ratio, that is, being able to settle all current and future pension liabilities. Reforms had to be made, which were approved in 2019, and are expected to begin in 2023. That means the Netherlands will move away from DB to a fully funded DC scheme in the future. The shift is bound to affect how the Dutch funds invest. By implementing a DC scheme, the funds are relieved of the guaranteed pension benefits, which means that the interest rate sensitivity will steadily decline over time. Thus, their investment options become more flexible. Due to its size on the bond market (75% of all European bonds held by occupational pension funds in 2020), the change is also expected to impact future investments in fixed income securities, at least in Europe. How the Dutch funds will allocate their investments once the shift towards DC is complete is hard to tell but putting the timing of it into perspective might give some ideas.

Between 2010-2021, the S&P 500 index grew approximately by 312% (Yahoo Finance, n.d), which by itself does not tell investors much, other than the value of the assets has grown. But how are the assets priced and is the price likely to keep rising, resulting in higher returns if held for the long run? Or is it possible that the market is overpriced? One estimate that has been mentioned when trying to compare stock prices historically to see if they are overvalued, is by comparing the p/e ratio of an index or individual stocks historically.

The p/e ratio, or the price earnings ratio divides the stock price by the earnings of the company, therefore a higher ratio means that the stock/index price is high, relative to the earnings of the that particular investment. The intuition is that as the ratio is higher, the likelihood of the stock being "overvalued" is higher.

As of December 2021, this ratio for the S&P 500 was 39.98, compared to 22.4 in December 2010. To put these numbers into perspective the p/e ratio was around 43 when the dot.com bubble burst in 2000 (Nasdaq, n.d). Without sounding too dramatic, this is something that the Dutch funds might want to consider when planning their new policy future allocation and deciding how much to allocate to equities. In chapter 1 we saw that in 2020 the Dutch system had 31% of total assets in equity, 47% in fixed income and 19% in other assets, noting that unallocated insurance contracts and derivatives are also included in the 19%. As a result, there is ample room them expand their allocation of alternatives in the future. The impact on future demand for alternative assets should be felt, at least in European markets, due to the sheer size of the Dutch system (2.060.775 USD million).

Another potential factor that can impact future demand of alternatives is the rising popularity of ESG investing, that is investment that prioritizes environmental, social, and governance factors. ESG investing is generally regarded as a way of investing sustainably, where investments are made with consideration of the environment and human welfare, as well as economic performance. It is based on the growing assumption that environmental and social factors are increasingly affecting financial performance of organizations (Daugaard, 2020).

The rising popularity of ESG investing can be related to the debate on global warming, which should not have gone unnoticed. At the United Nations Climate Conference which took place in Glasgow in 2021 an agreement to increase investments in environmentally friendly assets was announced among Nordic and UK pension funds. At the council, the pension funds made a commitment to allocate 130 billion USD to clean and renewable energy in total until 2030, with the aim of supporting and accelerating green transition by establishing a wave of socially responsible investment.

The best way to put the numbers into context and get an understanding of what this means for the pension funds is to give an example. In Denmark, the pension funds have committed to allocate 55 billion USD until 2030, where total assets of the system in 2020 were 888,2 billion USD. Their counterparts from Iceland have pledged to increase their investments in green energy investments by 5,4 billion USD throughout the decade where assets in 2020 were 88,2 billion USD. Although initially they may not appear to be significant, they represent future commitments based on large uncertainties regarding future markets. It is very likely that these investments will find their way to a large extent into unlisted instruments as the commitment is both made up of listed and unlisted equity investments, infrastructure as well as green bonds and debt (Climate Investment Coalition, 2021).

Another potential future factor that can impact the demand for alternatives is the increased emphasis on portfolios having net zero emissions. According to Aviva Investor's real asset study (2021), 50% of pension funds have committed to ensuring that their portfolios are net-zero emissions by 2050. Moreover, 67% of pension funds have made a net zero commitment, which represents a 20% increase from the last year. As the report acknowledges, achieving such targets is not easy. One of the major obstacles is the growing popularity of infrastructure as a stable investment choice and the lack of supply.

### 8.1.1 From Russia with love

On the 24<sup>th</sup> of February in 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine. Following that, the European Union reacted by imposing sanctions on imports and exports of Russian goods.

The largest exporting good in Russia is natural gas, which is used to produce electricity. In 2021, the European Union imported 155 billion cubic meters of natural gas from Russia. This accounts for around 45% of its total gas imports and close to 40% of its consumption in the area. As the European Union is already moving towards net zero ambitions, it is trying to gradually reduce consumption and imports of gas, but how the conflict in Ukraine impacts the pace of change is unclear (IEA, 2022).

As a result of Russia's invasion of Ukraine, the European Union proposed on the 8<sup>th</sup> of march 2022, an outline of a plan, labelled RepowerEU, to make Europe independent from Russian fossil fuels by 2030, starting with gas (EC, 2022).

Therefore, countries like Germany, Italy, and The Netherlands which are dependent on Russian gas to some extent must make large investments in infrastructure, given that they do not switch to other fossil fuels, which contradicts the net zero ambitions.

The amount of potential infrastructure investments in those countries should therefore be substantial in the coming years. This potential supply of future investments fits the demand for alternatives, considering the COP26 commitment and the change in the occupational Dutch pension system if interest rates remain low.

#### 8.2 Results compared to prior research and limits

This thesis was heavily influenced by Defau and Moor (2020), who concluded that pension funds invested more in alternatives when interest rates were higher. To the best of our knowledge, and theirs, this is something that has not been researched empirically before, so the results of their paper came as a big surprise, given that it goes against dominant theories in the field. That is that pension funds invest more in alternatives when interest rates are lower. Their conclusions are based on the current yield, but not from last years like in our case, meaning that the pension funds showed active management behavior over the years. Since their dataset is more detailed with respect to individual asset classes, they can distinguish the effects of interest rate changes on real assets, private equity, and hedge funds. The only asset class which showed significance was hedge funds, with a 99% significance level whereas the other two categories were insignificant. As we mentioned in chapter 3, hedge funds are usually with an open-ended structure making active management of such assets possible. Since it is the only significant coefficient with regards to current interest rates it suggests that it is the only alternative class that is traded actively. This can also be partially explained by the popularity of hedge funds in the US.

We also found that DB funds allocate less to alternatives on average, which an overwhelming percentage of the dataset used by Defau & De Moor was based upon. Therefore, it is not inconceivable that we would have obtained similar results if we had included a larger proportion of DB funds in our sample. Even though we came to the opposite conclusion, they are still intuitively the same.

While this study provided robust results in support of our hypothesis, it does not come without its limitations. Most of our study originates from data taken from the annual reports of 50 various pension funds from four separate countries. Although each asset class was meticulously examined, allocations to different asset classes had to be made which are subject to error. To reduce the risk of error, we created a document which contained all the different asset classes and their subcategories that would normally appear in an annual report. Among the examples of this would be bank deposits, which we allocated to other assets and infrastructure, which we placed in the

alternative category of assets. For Denmark and Iceland there was complete synergy among the funds in each respective country, as the data was prepared in the exact same way. The reporting of Australia and the Netherlands varied a lot, with some funds providing a lot of information while others were less explicit. In the process, there were often many details to work through, increasing the possibility of a calculation error. To minimize the possibility of that happening, we carried out our work in the following way: Each researcher collected half of the data, and then oversaw the data that the other researcher collected.

A pension fund's investment allocation decision regarding alternative investments has many factors influencing it and is a complicated process. As a result, it is likely that our model did not capture all the effects. There is therefore a potential omitted variable bias present, which could lead to incorrect conclusions from hypotheses tests. By using the fixed effects method for estimation, we believe that we minimized the risk of the omitted variable bias. In addition, our model passed the robustness tests with factors we believed that could have impacted the model. Furthermore, given that we find higher allocation to alternative assets in low interest environments, our research would greatly benefit from a better differentiation between the alternative asset categories. By doing so, we would be able to make inferences about individual asset classes, for example, whether real estate has increased more in high inflation times than private equity funds or where the funds are more likely to hedge inflation risk. Unfortunately, due to lack of data, we are not able to tell.

In addition to that, we would have benefitted from including some survey data from the pension funds regarding the relationship between the policy allocation and interest rates. From there we could have gained more insight into their perspectives and verified fully that most of their alternatives, which are not hedge funds, are not actively traded. Since our results, which were unexpected at first, came at a late stage of the thesis, the attempt to carry out such survey was unfortunately thwarted due to time.

Finally, there is the issue of information about the policy allocation. It is caused by lack of data and sometimes poor-quality information regarding how the funds allocate their investments prior to the investment year. As an example, there are some Icelandic funds which provide information on allocations. However, they only provide insight into asset categories, such as stocks and bonds but do not disclose if they are listed or not. In an ideal world, we would also be able to estimate the relationship between the policy allocation and interest rates to further strengthen our results of passive management of alternatives but also determine if interest rates were biasing our results, since they affect the valuation of assets on the balance sheet and therefore the allocation percentage.

## 9. Conclusion

In this thesis we investigated the relationship between changing interest rates and allocation to alternative investments among pension funds. Previous research conducted by Defau & De Moor (2020) showed that a positive relationship exists, namely that higher interest rates lead to more investment in alternatives for pension funds. Since they only analyzed alternatives as a fraction of assets under management it is unclear whether the change was due to actual increase in alternatives or due to relative changes in the portfolio.

Using data for 50 pension funds in four different countries for the period 2010-2020 we analyzed the asset allocation with a particular emphasis on non-traditional assets. By building a fixed effect model we found evidence that a fall in long term nominal interest rates, leads to an increase in alternatives, both in amounts and as a fraction of total assets under management, opposite to the findings of Defau and De Moor.

Even though interest rates are a key component when investing in alternatives, there are other factors at work as well. The different asset classes within alternatives generally have the common feature of being illiquid and traded infrequently. Our study found that current nominal long term rates did not have a significant relationship with alternatives. However, by looking at the interest rate of the previous period, a significant relationship emerged. A result that rhymes well with the illiquid characteristics of alternatives and indicates that pension funds consider this type of investment long-term, where passive investment management is more suitable.

The benefits of alternative investments to pension plans include the ability to generate stable cash flows while at the same time having low correlation with traditional investments such as listed stocks and bonds. Asset diversification plays a key role when pension funds build their investment strategies and vast majority of the funds in our sample distribute their assets well over different categories. Since alternatives are long term investments with higher expected returns than liquid assets, due to the illiquidity premium, they are an appealing option to pension funds that have constant capital inflows and a great need for new investments. In low interest rate environment where bonds become less attractive to investors, including alternatives in the portfolio can boost their returns over the medium and long-term horizon, while reducing the volatility at the same time.

Our results also showed that there is a difference between the two occupational schemes when it comes to how much they allocate to alternatives on average. With DC funds allocating more to alternatives in times of lower interest rates. This raises the question of how the transition of the largest DB scheme in Europe, The Netherlands, to DC will affect the demand for alternatives in the future if interest rates remain low.

This thesis analyzed how alternatives developed from 2010-2020 which was characterized by a downward trend in interest rates where alternatives become more prevalent in pension funds. The future may hold a number of uncertainties. Is it plausible to assume that diversification arguments, together with the increasing popularity of ESG, will outweigh the effects of interest rate changes in the future? At this point in time, it is hard to predict, but future researchers may extend our ideas with new methodologies, over a longer period of time to further expand the knowledge in the field.

## **Bibliography**

- ABP. n.d. "Nieuwe Regels Voor Pensioen." Retrieved May 3, 2022 (https://www.abp.nl/overabp/het-nieuwe-pensioenstelsel/nieuwe-regels-voor-pensioen.aspx).
- Alonso, Javier, Alfonso Arellano, and David Tuesta. 2016. "Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and Global Financial Regulation." Pp. 186–212 in *Retirement System Risk Management*, edited by O. S. Mitchell, R. Maurer, and J. M. Orszag. Oxford University Press.
- Alþingi. 1997. "129/1997: Lög Um Skyldutryggingu Lífeyrisréttinda Og Starfsemi Lífeyrissjóða | Lög | Alþingi." Retrieved May 5, 2022 (https://www.althingi.is/lagas/nuna/1997129.html).
- Antolin, Pablo, Sebastian Schich, and Juan Yermo. 2011. "The Economic Impact of Protracted Low Interest Rates on Pension Funds and Insurance Companies." *OECD Journal: Financial Market Trends* 2011(1):237–56. doi: 10.1787/fmt-2011-5kg55qw0m56l.
- APRA. 2022. "Annual Superannuation Bulletin | APRA." Retrieved February 25, 2022 (https://www.apra.gov.au/annual-superannuation-bulletin).
- ATP. 2020. "ATP's Investment Approach." Retrieved January 3, 2022 (https://www.atp.dk/en/dokument/atps-investment-approach-2020#:~:text=The%20basic%20principle%20of%20the,guaran%2D%20teed%20pension %20benefit%20payments.).
- AustralianSuper. 2020. "Annual Report 2020." Retrieved May 5, 2022 (https://www.australiansuper.com/-/media/australian-super/files/about-us/annual-reports/2020-annual-report.pdf).
- AustralianSuper. 2021. "AustralianSuper's Unlisted Assets." Retrieved April 23, 2022 (https://www.australiansuper.com/-/media/australian-super/files/tools-and-advice/formsand-fact-sheets/investment/fact-sheets/australiansupers-unlisted-assets.pdf).
- AustralianSuper. n.d. "Our Superannuation Investments." *Superannuation Investments*. Retrieved May 5, 2022 (https://www.australiansuper.com/investments/what-we-investin/our-superannuation-investments).
- Aviva, 25. 2021. "Aviva Investors Real Assets Study 2021 Sees Large Uptick in Institutional Investors Committing to Net Zero Targets." Retrieved April 28, 2022 (https://www.avivainvestors.com/en-gb/about/company-news/2021/11/real-assets-study-2021-raised-ambitions/).
- Boon, Ling-Ni, Marie Briere, and Sandra Rigot. 2014. *Does Regulation Matter? Riskiness and Procyclicality in Pension Asset Allocation. SSRN Scholarly Paper.* 2542577. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2542577.

- BplPensioen. 2017. "Verklaring Inzake de Beleggingsbeginselen." Retrieved May 4, 2022 (https://www.bplpensioen.nl/sites/default/files/documenten/verklaring-inzake-debeleggingsbeginselen.pdf).
- CAIA. 2016. "Introductory Guide to Investing in Private Equity Secondaries." Retrieved March 22, 2022 (https://caia.org/sites/default/files/capital\_dynamics\_secondaries\_update.pdf).
- CAIA Association, and Donald Chambers. 2020. Alternative Investments : CAIA Level I.
- Callan. 2021. "What Investors Need to Know About the Risk to Achieve Returns." Retrieved March 1, 2022 (https://www.callan.com/blog-archive/risky-business-updated/).
- CFA. 2019. "Research Foundation Review 2018."
- Chambers, Donald R., Keith H. Black, Nelson J. Lacey, and CAIA Association. 2018. Alternative Investments: A Primer for Investment Professionals.
- Climate Investment Coalition. 2021. "US\$130 billion in collective commitments towards clean energy and climate investments by 2030 mobilised by Nordic & UK pension funds | Climate Investment Coalition." Retrieved April 28, 2022 (https://via.ritzau.dk/pressemeddelelse/us130-billion-in-collective-commitments-towardsclean-energy-and-climate-investments-by-2030-mobilised-by-nordic-uk-pensionfunds?publisherId=13559913&releaseId=13635295).
- CNN. 2019. "The World's Best Pension System Is Being Pushed to the Brink." Retrieved February 5, 2022 (https://edition.cnn.com/2019/11/21/investing/pensions-crisis-negativerates/index.html).
- Cox, John C., Jonathan E. Ingersoll, and Stephen A. Ross. 1985. "A Theory of the Term Structure of Interest Rates." *Econometrica* 53(2):385–407. doi: 10.2307/1911242.
- Daugaard, Dan. 2020. "Emerging New Themes in Environmental, Social and Governance Investing: A Systematic Literature Review." Accounting & Finance 60(2):1501–30. doi: 10.1111/acfi.12479.
- Defau, Laurens, and Lieven De Moor. 2020. "The Investment Behaviour of Pension Funds in Alternative Assets: Interest Rates and Portfolio Diversification." *International Journal of Finance & Economics* 26(1):1424–34. doi: 10.1002/ijfe.1856.
- Defau, Laurens, and Lieven de Moor. 2018. "The Impact of Plan and Sponsor Characteristics on Pension Funds' Asset Allocation and Currency Diversification." *The Journal of Asset Management* 19(1).
- DNB. 2019. "Beleggingen Pensioenfondsen." Retrieved February 5, 2022 (https://www.dnb.nl/voor-de-sector/open-boek-toezichtsectoren/pensioenfondsen/prudentieel-toezicht/beleggingen/beleggingenpensioenfondsen/).

- DNB. n.da. "Dekkingsgraad." *De Nederlandsche Bank*. Retrieved March 16, 2022 (https://www.dnb.nl/actuele-economische-vraagstukken/pensioen/ons-pensioenstelselnu/dekkingsgraad/).
- DNB. n.db. "The New Pension System." Retrieved May 5, 2022 (https://www.dnb.nl/en/current-economic-issues/pensions/the-new-pension-system/).
- EC. 2022. "Joint European Action for More Affordable, Secure Energy." *European Commission* - *European Commission*. Retrieved May 3, 2022 (https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_22\_1511).
- ECB, European Central Bank. 2021. "Economic Bulletin Issue 5, 2021."
- EIOPA. 2009a. "DIRECTIVE 138/2009/EC (SOLVENCY II DIRECTIVE)." *Eiopa European Commission*. Retrieved January 23, 2022 (https://www.eiopa.europa.eu/rulebookcategories/directive-1382009ec-solvency-ii-directive\_en).
- Elton, Edwin J., Martin Jay Gruber, Stephen J. Brown, and William N. Goetzmann. 2014. *Modern Portfolio Theory and Investment Analysis*. Ninth edition. Hoboken, NJ : Wiley.
- Erhvervsministeriet. 2015. Bekendtgørelse Om Finansielle Rapporter for Forsikringsselskaber Og Tværgående Pensionskasser. Vol. BEK nr 937 af 27/07/2015.
- European Parliament. 2001. The Determination of Interest Rates : European Parliament.
- Fama, Eugene F., and Kenneth R. French. 2004. "The Capital Asset Pricing Model: Theory and Evidence." *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* 18(3):25–46.
- Ferri, Giovanni, Li-Gang Liu, and Giovanni Majnoni. 2000. "How the Proposed Basel Guidelines on Rating-Agency Assessments Would Affect Developing Countries."
- Finanstilsynet. 2020. "Finanstilsynet Fremhæver Tre Fokusområder Efter Kortlægning Af Markedsrentepensioner." Retrieved March 11, 2022 (https://www.finanstilsynet.dk/talog-fakta/rapporter/2020/markesrentepensioner\_250820).
- Fischer, Edwin O., and Susanne Lind-Braucher. 2010. "Optimal Portfolios with Traditional and Alternative Investments: An Empirical Investigation." The Journal of Alternative Investments 13(2):58–77. doi: 10.3905/jai.2010.13.2.058.
- Fjármálaeftirlitið. n.d. "Lífeyrissjóðir." *Fjármálaeftirlitið*. Retrieved February 28, 2022 (https://www.fme.is/eftirlit/lifeyrissjodir/).
- IEA. 2022. "How Europe Can Cut Natural Gas Imports from Russia Significantly within a Year -News." *IEA*. Retrieved May 7, 2022 (https://www.iea.org/news/how-europe-can-cutnatural-gas-imports-from-russia-significantly-within-a-year).
- IFRS. 2013. "Illustrative Examples to Accompany IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. Unquoted Equity Instruments within the Scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments." Retrieved May

12, 2022 (https://www.ifrs.org/content/dam/ifrs/supporting-implementation/ifrs-13/education-ifrs-13-eng.pdf).

- IOPS. 2010. Good Practises in Risk Management of Alternative Investments by Pension Funds.
- Iyengar, Sheena S., and Emir Kamenica. 2010. "Choice Proliferation, Simplicity Seeking, and Asset Allocation." *Journal of Public Economics* 94(7–8):530–39.
- James, Rod. 2022. "Deal Volume Topped \$130bn Last Year, Say Jefferies, Greenhill." *Secondaries Investor*. Retrieved March 25, 2022 (https://www.secondariesinvestor.com/deal-volume-topped-130bn-last-year-say-jefferiesgreenhill/).
- John Wiley & Sons. 2020. "Valuation : Measuring and Managing the Value of Companies." Retrieved February 14, 2022 (https://www.worldcat.org/title/valuation-measuring-andmanaging-the-value-of-companies/oclc/57613554?page=citation).
- Karavas, Vassilios N. 2000. "Alternative Investments in the Institutional Portfolio." *The Journal* of Alternative Investments 3(3):11–25. doi: 10.3905/jai.2000.318962.
- Keim, Donald, and Olivia Mitchell. 2015. "Simplifying Choices in Defined Contribution Retirement Plan Design." *Wharton Pension Research Council Working Papers*.
- Kortleve, Niels, and Eduard Ponds. 2010. "How To Close the Funding Gap in Dutch Pension Plans? Impact on Generations." *Center for Retirement Research, Issues in Brief.*
- Kräussl, Roman, Thorsten Lehnert, and Kalle Rinne. 2017. "The Search for Yield: Implications to Alternative Investments." *Journal of Empirical Finance* 44:227–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jempfin.2017.11.001.
- LIVE. 2020. "Live Ársskýrsla 2020." Retrieved March 11, 2022 (https://www.live.is/media/utgefid-efni/LV-Arsskyrsla-2020.pdf).
- LIVE. 2021. "Fjarfestingarstefna-2021.Pdf." Retrieved April 11, 2022 (https://www.live.is/media/2021/Fjarfestingarstefna-2021.pdf).
- Lodge, Cari. 2021. "Secondaries 2021 A Buyers' Market." Retrieved May 1, 2022 (https://www.commonfund.org/research-center/articles/secondaries-2021-a-buyersmarket).
- López-Villavicencio, Antonia, and Sandra Rigot. 2013. *The Determinants of Pension Funds' Allocation to Private Equity. SSRN Scholarly Paper*. 2363356. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2363356.
- Mac, Tony. 2018. "Occupational Pensions Statistics." *Eiopa European Commission*. Retrieved March 22, 2022 (https://www.eiopa.europa.eu/tools-and-data/statistics-and-risk-analysis/occupational-pensions-statistics\_en).

- Markowitz, Harry. 1952. "Portfolio Selection." *The Journal of Finance* 7(1):77–91. doi: 10.2307/2975974.
- Marston, Richard C. 2011. Portfolio Design : A Modern Approach to Asset Allocation. John Wiley & Sons.
- Nasdaq. n.d. "Nasdaq Data Link." Retrieved April 15, 2022 (https://data.nasdaq.com/data/MULTPL/SP500\_PE\_RATIO\_MONTH-sp-500-pe-ratioby-month).
- NationwideSuper. n.d. "Why Is Superannuation Compulsory in Australia? | Nationwide Super." Retrieved April 12, 2022 (https://www.nationwidesuper.com.au/why-is-superannuationcompulsory-in-australia/).
- OECD. 2014. "Long-Term Interest Rates."
- OECD. 2019a. "Pensions at a Glance 2019: Country Profiles Australia." Retrieved February 15, 2022 (https://www.oecd.org/els/public-pensions/PAG2019-country-profile-Australia.pdf).
- OECD. 2019b. "Pensions at a Glance 2019: Country Profiles Denmark." Retrieved February 15, 2022 (https://www.oecd.org/els/public-pensions/PAG2019-country-profile-Denmark.pdf).
- OECD. 2019c. "Pensions at a Glance 2019: Country Profiles Iceland." Retrieved February 15, 2022 (https://www.oecd.org/els/public-pensions/PAG2019-country-profile-Iceland.pdf).
- OECD. 2019d. "Pensions at a Glance 2019: Country Profiles Netherlands." Retrieved February 15, 2022 (https://www.oecd.org/els/public-pensions/PAG2019-country-profile-Netherlands.pdf).
- OECD. 2020. "Annual Survey of Investment Regulation of Pension Funds and Other Pension Providers 2020." 437.
- OECD. 2021a. "Pension Funds in Figure 2021." 6.
- OECD. 2021b. Pensions at a Glance 2021: OECD and G20 Indicators. OECD.
- PensionDanmark. 2020. "Private Debt | Alternative Investments, PensionDanmark." *PensionDanmark.Com.* Retrieved April 23, 2022 (https://www.pensiondanmark.com/en/investments/private-debt/).
- Petersen, Christian V., and Thomas Plenborg. 2012. *Financial Statement Analysis : Valuation, Credit Analysis , Executive Compensation*. Harlow [u.a.] : Financial Times Prentice Hall.
- Petersen, Mitchell A. 2009. "Estimating Standard Errors in Finance Panel Data Sets: Comparing Approaches." *Review of Financial Studies* 22(1):435–80. doi: 10.1093/rfs/hhn053.

- PFZW. 2015. "Jaarverslag 2015." Retrieved March 12, 2022 (https://www.pfzw.nl/content/dam/pfzw/web/over-ons/dit-presterenwe/jaarverslagen/jaarverslag-2015.pdf).
- Plenborg, Thomas, and Finn Kinserdal. 2020. *Financial Statement Analysis: Valuation, Credit Analysis, Performance Evaluation*. Fagbokforlaget.
- Preqin. n.d. "Private Debt | Preqin." Retrieved January 3, 2022 (https://www.preqin.com/academy/lesson-4-asset-class-101s/private-debt).
- Preqin. n.d. "What Are Alternative Assets? | Preqin." *Introduction to Alternative Assets*. Retrieved February 23, 2022 (https://www.preqin.com/academy/lesson-1-alternative-assets/what-are-alternative-assets).
- PwC, Luxemborg. 2015. "Global Pension Funds: Best Practices in the Pension Funds Investment Process." 134.
- Schweizer, Denis. 2008. "Portfolio Optimization with Alternative Investments." Available at SSRN: Http://Ssrn. Com/Abstract.
- Starita, Maria Grazia, and Irma Malafronte. 2014. "Solvency II Directive and the Key Features of the European Insurance Market." Pp. 13–58 in *Capital Requirements, Disclosure, and Supervision in the European Insurance Industry: New Challenges towards Solvency II*, edited by M. G. Starita and I. Malafronte. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Sutcliffe, Charles. 2016. Finance and Occupational Pensions. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Teng, Michelle. n.d.-b. "The Art of Managing Liquidity Risk with Private Assets on the Rise."

- Thomson Reuter. 2022. "Regulation of State and Supplementary Pension Schemes in Australia: Overview." *Practical Law*. Retrieved May 28, 2022 (http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/8-547-7007?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&firstPage=true).
- Turner, John, and Leslie Muller. n.d. "Defining Participation in Defined Contribution Pension Plans." 8.
- UN. 2020. World Population Ageing 2020 Highlights: Living Arrangements of Older Persons.
- U.S Securities & Exchange Commission. 2013. "Interest Rate Risk When Interest Rates Go up, Prices of Fixed-Rate Bonds Fall." Retrieved February 13, 2022 (https://www.sec.gov/files/ib\_interestraterisk.pdf).
- Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. 2010. *Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data*. 2. ed. Cambridge, Mass. [u.a.] : MIT Press.

Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. 2012. "Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach." 910.

- World Economic Forum. 2015. "Alternative Investments 2020 An Introduction to Alternative Investments." Retrieved May 29, 2022 (https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Alternative\_Investments\_2020\_An\_Introduction \_to\_AI.pdf).
- Yahoo Finance. n.d. "S&P 500 (^GSPC) Charts, Data & News Yahoo Finance." Retrieved May 1, 2022 (https://finance.yahoo.com/quote/%5EGSPC/).

# Appendix

Alternative assets %				
Yield <sub>t</sub>	-0,392* (0,177511)			
Complex	0,062*** (0,0,007302)			
Log size	0,016*** (0,002383)			
DB	-0,051*** (0,006748)			
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0,6095			
Observations	485			
BIC	-1.595,8			

## **Original OLS estimation**

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.



## **OLS residuals:**

# Plot of the OLS regression







## **FD** estimations:

	Alternative assets %	
	Model 1	Model 2
Yieldt	-0,30732 (0,33704)	
Yield <sub>t-1</sub>		-0,73022** (0,3712)
Complex	0,019240* (0,011502)	0,019228* (0,011498)
Log size	0,021217** (0,010102)	0,021198** (0,010871)
DB	-0,05884** (0,02838)	-0,05794** (0,02856)
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	0,17288	0,18234
Observations	435	435

Note: SEs are reported in parentheses. \*, \*\*, and \*\*\* indicate statistical significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively.